
Board of Directors’ Meeting 
Thursday, June 27, 2024 ♦ 12:00 p.m.  

Midlands Technical College – Harbison Campus (in person) 
7300 College Street, Irmo, SC 29063 

Continuing Education Center, Room 113 and Zoom Meeting (Virtual) 
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83720217501?pwd=lkmdJ8mVOKEiF7bIShj0RYIWVO6jTr.1 

Meeting ID: 837 2021 7501 ♦ Passcode: 073774 ♦ Dial-In Number (929) 205-6099 
OVERALL AGENDA  

A
C

T
IO

N
 

A. Call to Order and Introductions Will Brennan, 
Chair 

1. Determination of a Quorum
2. Approve Order and Contents of the Overall Agenda
3. Invocation
4. Introduction of New Board Members & Guests
5. Chairman’s Introduction Will Brennan 

Good News from CMCOG – Around the Region Will Brennan 

B. Consent Agenda
1. Approval of the May 23, 2024 Board Meeting Minutes (Enclosure 1)
2. *2023 - 2033 TIP Amendment – FY 2021 Sections 5307 & 5310 ARP Funds (Enclosure 2)
3. *2023 - 2033 TIP Amendment – FY 2021 Section 5339 Funds (Enclosure 3)
4. *2023 - 2033 TIP Amendment – FY 2020 Section 5307 Funds (Enclosure 4)
5. *2023 - 2033 TIP Amendment – Assembly Street Phase 2 (Enclosure 5)
6. 2023 – 2033 Rural TIP Amendment – Rural & Small Urban Section 5310 Projects (Enclosure 6)
7. CMCOG Authorization of FY 2023 Section 5307 Funds to CMRTA (Enclosure 7)
8. CMCOG Authorization of FY 2023 Section 5339 Funds to CMRTA (Enclosure 8)
9. CMCOG Authorization of FY 2021 Section 5307 ARP Funds to CMRTA (Enclosure 9)
10. Title VI Plan Update (Enclosure 10)

C. Regular Agenda
1. Monthly Financial Status Report (April 2024) (Enclosure 11) Melissa Labbe 
2. Briefing on Financial and Compliance Report for FY 2023 (Enclosure 12) Melissa Labbe 
3. *2023 – 2033 TIP Amendment – Lexington Corridors Feasibility Study (Enclosure 13) Reginald Simmons 
4. *2023 – 2033 TIP Amendment – Large Urban Section 5310 Projects (Enclosure 14) Reginald Simmons 
5. *2023 - 2033 TIP Amendment – Leesburg Rd @ Patterson Rd Intersection (Enclosure 15) Reginald Simmons 
6. *2023 - 2033 TIP Amendment – Old Two Notch Rd @ Shirway Rd Intersection (Enclosure 16) Reginald Simmons 
7. 2023 – 2033 TIP Amendment – Signal System Improvement Projects (Enclosure 17) Reginald Simmons 
8. FY 2024 & 2025 Urban & Rural Work Program Updates (Enclosure 18) Reginald Simmons 
9. FY 2024 CMCOG Transit Asset Management Plan (Enclosure 19) Reginald Simmons 

REMINDER: The next CMCOG Board Meeting will be held on Thursday, August 22, 2024 
Note: Full Agenda packets can be found on the CMCOG website at www.cmcog.org. 

*Denotes item is a Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Urbanized Area Request

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/83720217501?pwd=lkmdJ8mVOKEiF7bIShj0RYIWVO6jTr.1
http://www.cmcog.org/


IN
FO

R
M

A
T

IO
N

 

D. Announcements / Committee or Staff Reports / Correspondences  
1. Fiber Installation Presentation Ben Breazeale 
2. CMCOG Committee Reports Britt Poole 
3. Executive Director’s Report Britt Poole 
  

E. Old/New Business  

  

F. Other Business  

  

G. Adjourn  
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   

REMINDER: The next CMCOG Board Meeting will be held on Thursday, August 22, 2024 
Note: Full Agenda packets can be found on the CMCOG website at www.cmcog.org.   

*Denotes item is a Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) Urbanized Area Request 

http://www.cmcog.org/


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 
 

Approval of the May 23, 2024 
Executive Committee Minutes 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 – June 2024 



 
Executive Committee Meeting of the  

Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Thursday, March 28, 2024  ♦  11:00 a.m.  ♦  Midlands Technical College 

Harbison Campus – 7300 College Street, Irmo, SC  29063 
Continuing Education Center, Room 113 and via Zoom (Virtual) 

Meeting ID: 835 5117 6583  ♦  Passcode: 626584  ♦  Dial-In Number: (929) 205-6099 
 

Executive Committee Member Present: 
Will Brennan, CHAIR, Columbia City Council 
Rep. Annie McDaniel, Vice-Chair, Fairfield County Legislative Delegation 
Vina Abrams, Newberry 
Bill Danielson, Mayor, City of Irmo 
Clarence Gilbert, Fairfield County Council 
Haskell Kibler, Forest Acres City Council 
Paul Livingston, Richland County  
Walton McLeod, Newberry County 
John McMeekin, Mayor, Town of Winnsboro 
Chakisse Newton, Richland County 
Foster Senn, Mayor, City of Newberry 
Staff Members Present: 
Britt Poole, Executive Director 
Fretoria Addison, LTC Ombudsman Volunteer Coordinator/Information Support Specialist 
Roland Bart, Transportation Planner 
Tammy Beagan, Director, Workforce 
Sheila Bell-Ford, Assistant Area Agency on Aging Director  
Aleigha Chee-you, Ombudsman Program Assistant 
Anna Harmon, Director, Area Agency on Aging 
Jason Kent, GIS Manager 
Melissa Labbe, Finance Director 
Kelly Roberson, Executive Assistant to the Boards 
Reginald Simmons, Deputy Director/Transportation Director 
Gregory Sprouse, Director, Research & Planning  
Lilnora White, HR Manager 
Guests: 
Will Dillard, Belser Law Firm 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Attachment 1 – June 2024 



A. CALL TO ORDER AND INTRODUCATIONS 

A1. Chairman Will Brennan called the meeting to order at 11:00 a.m. on May 23, 2024.     Chairman 
Brennan stated that a quorum was present at the time the meeting was called to order.   

A2.   APPROVE ORDER AND CONTENTS OF THE OVERALL AGENDA 
 MOTION, approved via voice vote without any no votes.  

Walton McLeod moved for approval, seconded by Rep. Annie McDaniel to approve the Order and 
Contents of the Overall Agenda. The motion was approved. 

B. CONSENT AGENDA 

B1. Approval of the March 28, 2024 Executive Committee Meeting Minutes  
 
 MOTION, approved via voice vote without any no votes.  

Paul Livingston moved for approval, seconded by Clarence Gilbert to approve the March 28, 2024 
Executive Committee Meeting Minutes. The motion was approved. 

 
C. REGULAR AGENDA 

C1. Monthly Financial Status Report (January 2024) 
 Melissa Labbe gave a presentation regarding the Monthly Financial Status Report (February 2024). 
 This was for information only and no action was taken. 

C2. FY 2025 CMCOG Annual Budget and Work Program  
 Melissa Labbe presented the following: 

• The overall budget increased by 7.6%.  
• Included State/Federal cuts to the Workforce Programs-one position eliminated. 
• New position of Government Services Manager created. 
• Increased employee insurance benefits to cover full cost. 3.1% cost of living increase for 

employees.    

Rep. McDaniel asked a few clarifying questions, and a brief discussion took place. 
MOTION, approved via voice vote without any no votes. 
Mayor Bill Danielson moved for approval, seconded by Walton McLeod to approve Annual 
Budget and Work Program.  The motion was approved. 

C3. *2023-2033 TIP Amendment – Assembly Street Phase 2  
 

Reginald Simmons requested approval to add $10 million to the 2023 – 2033 TIP to complete the 
Assembly Street Phase II Project.  This project features pedestrian safety, ADA compliance, and 
enhancements along the Assembly Street corridor from Pendleton Street to Lady Street. In addition to 
the enhancements, the project will evaluate undergrounding of utilities and installation of traffic signal 
poles and mast arms throughout the project corridor. This is a continuation of the Assembly Street Phase 
I project, which spanned from Blossom Street to Pendleton Street. 
This project aims to improve public safety and create a pedestrian‐friendly atmosphere to improve the 
connection between Main Street, the SC Statehouse and the Vista Entertainment District.  The estimated 
total cost of the project is approximately $16 million.  

 Paul Livingston expressed concerns about the loss of parking.  Chairman Brennan noted that parking in 
the middle of the street will be removed, and green space/pedestrian space will be added.  Chairman 
Brennan stated he would obtain more information from SCDOT and the City of Columbia about where 
additional parking will be added. 

Attachment 1 – June 2024 



 
Rep. McDaniel inquired about public input meetings held by the City of Columbia. 

 A brief discussion took place. 
 MOTION, approved via voice vote without any no votes. 

Mayor John McMeekin moved for approval, seconded by Haskell Kibler to amend the 2023 – 
2033 TIP to add $10 million to the Assembly Street Phase II Project. The motion was approved.  

C4. FY 2024 CMRTA Transit Asset Management Plan  
 

Reginald Simmons requested approval to adopt the FY 2024 CMRTA Transit Asset Management Plan.  
The COMET serves the Central Midlands Area, which includes the Columbia, South Carolina 
Urbanized Area. The cities, towns and counties served includes Columbia, Cayce, West Columbia, 
Forest Acres, Springdale, Eastover, Chapin, Batesburg-Leesville, Lexington and unincorporated areas of 
Richland and Lexington counties, with fixed route and paratransit services. The COMET is committed 
to providing safe, dependable, affordable, and accessible public transit service to the heart of the 
Midlands Area. 
The population service area of The COMET is 646,895. The COMET is the recipient of Federal Transit 
Administration Section 5307 Urbanized Area Formula Grants and depends on other federal, local funds 
and passenger fares to currently operate. The COMET also receives funds and gets approval of the 
Transit Asset Management (TAM) Plan from the Central Midlands Regional Council of Governments. 
Transit services are provided throughout Richland and Lexington Counties on 35 fixed routes, five (5) 
rural flex routes, and an ADA complementary paratransit service. Transit services are provided 
throughout 1,225 square miles within Richland and Lexington Counties currently. The COMET operates 
a “turn-key” operations and maintenance contract with the contractor having the responsibility to 
provide for all transit operations and maintenance personnel, maintenance parts and insurance. The 
COMET provides all assets, equipment, fuel, facility, and facility utilities. 
A brief discussion took place. 

 MOTION, approved via voice vote without any no votes. 
Paul Livingston moved for approval, seconded by Clarence Gilbert to adopt the FY 2024 CMRTA 
Transit Asset Management Plan. The motion was approved.  

C5. Title VI Plan Update  
 

Reginald Simmons requested approval to adopt the CMCOG/COATS MPO Title VI/Environmental 
Justice Plan and Language Assistance Plan. Every three years, the MPO is responsible for updating its 
Title VI / Environmental Justice Plan. Staff has fully updated this Title VI Plan by providing an 
environmental justice component to meet the FTA guidance that is specified in Circular 4702.1B “Title 
VI Requirements and Guidelines for Federal Transit Administration Recipients.”  
Federal regulations require that MPOs who are federal grant recipients such as COATS, have a Title VI 
Program.  Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 states that no person in the United States shall, on the 
basis of race, color, or national origin, excluded from participation in, be denied the benefits of, or 
subjected to discrimination under any program or activity receiving federal financial assistance. Title VI 
prohibits intentional discrimination as well as disparate impact on protected groups. The transportation 
planning regulations require consistency with Title VI and subsequent civil rights laws and regulations. 
This updated Title VI Plan includes: 

• FTA Civil Right Assurance to comply with the Civil Rights Act, associated statues, and 
executive orders 

• Limited English Proficiency (LEP) Plan that identifies our outreach efforts to persons who 
have the limited ability to speak, read, and/or write in English 

• Public participation outreach efforts to traditionally underserved populations 

Attachment 1 – June 2024 



• Social equity analysis that identifies potential environmental justice areas in our region 
• A Title VI Complaint Form and Log for any Title VI complaints that are filed against 

CMCOG or the COATS MPO. 
 

There was a brief discussion. 
 MOTION, approved via voice vote without 
 Rep. McDaniel asked about Anti-Semitism being listed. The Chairman asked Mr. Poole to check with 

other COGs about their policy for adding this information. 
 MOTION, approved via voice vote without any no votes. 

Rep. Annie McDaniel moved for approval, seconded by Mayor John McMeekin to approve FY 
2024 Title VI/Environmental Justice Plan & Language Assistance Plan. The motion was 
approved.  

 
 
D. ANNOUNCEMENTS/COMMITTEE OR STAFF REPORTS/CORRESPONDENCES 
 

D1. Executive Director’s Report 
  

Mr. Poole noted that the full report will be made at the Board meeting.  Then announced the following: 
 
Aging Program: 

• ARPA Program will expire at the end of September.  AAA will likely stop accepting new 
applications so they can process the 900+ applications currently pending before the deadline.   

• The State Unit on Aging is using our heating/air program as an example for other COGs/AAAs.   
• Consideration is being made to use all remaining ARPA money from programs across the state 

to purchase units for distribution after the program is closed.   
• Mr. Poole has negotiated an arrangement with Lowes for discounted rates, storage and shipment 

of heating/air units. 
 
Environmental Planning: 

• CMCOG implements the DHEC Water Quality Management Plan which is known as Section 
208 and reviews wastewater application requests.  Other COGs do not.   

• DHEC would like to work with all COGs to complete the 208 requests.  This would create 
additional revenue since payment is required for a 208 review.   

 
 This was for information only and no action was taken. 
 
E. OLD/NEW BUSINESS 

 
None. 
 

F. OTHER BUSINESS 
 
Vina Abrams led the recognition for Mayor Elise Partin outstanding service on the CMCOG Board for 
over 15 years. 
 
Rep. McDaniel invited the Board members to attend a congressional meeting. Mr. Poole will forward 
the invitation upon receipt from Rep. McDaniel. 

Attachment 1 – June 2024 



 
Mr. Poole thanked Rep. McDaniel and Rep. Wooten for helping secure the 1-million-dollar allowance 
for the CMCOG Office Remodeling Project.  
 
 

G. ADJOURN 
 

There being no further business, the meeting adjourned at 11:38 a.m. 
 
MOTION, approved via voice vote without any no votes. 
Mayor John McMeekin moved for approval to adjourn the CMCOG Executive Committee 
Meeting.  The motion was approved.  
 
 
 
 
 

___________________________________                ________________________________ 
       D. Britt Poole, Secretary-Treasurer     Will Brennan, Chairman 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Attachment 1 – June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 2 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
FY 2021 Sections 5307 & 5310 ARP Funds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 2  -  June 2024 



 

 

Enclosure 2  -  June 2024 



 

Enclosure 2  -  June 2024 



 

Enclosure 2  -  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 3 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
FY 2021 Sections 5339 Funds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 3 -  June 2024 



 

 

Enclosure 3 -  June 2024 



   

Enclosure 3 -  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 4 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
FY 2021 Sections 5307 Funds 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 4 -  June 2024 



 

 

Enclosure 4 -  June 2024 



 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 4 -  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 5 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
Assembly Street Phase 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Enclosure 5 -  June 2024 



 

Approved by the CMCOG Board/MPO 
Policy Committee on May 23rd       
 
Public comment period ended on June 
28th    
    
No public comments have been 
received 

Enclosure 5 -  June 2024 



Enclosure 5 -  June 2024 



 
 

Enclosure 5 -  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 6 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
Rural & Small Urban Section 5310 Projects 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 6 -  June 2024 



Enclosure 6 -  June 2024 



Enclosure 6 -  June 2024 



Enclosure 6 -  June 2024 



Enclosure 6 -  June 2024 



Enclosure 6 -  June 2024 



 
 

Enclosure 6 -  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 7 
 

CMCOG Authorization of FY 2023 
Section 5307 Funds to CMRTA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 7 -  June 2024 



 

 

Enclosure 7 -  June 2024 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 8 
 

CMCOG Authorization of FY 2023 
Section 5339 Funds to CMRTA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 8 -  June 2024 



 
 

Enclosure 8 -  June 2024 



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 9 
 

CMCOG Authorization of FY 2023 
Section 5307 ARP Funds to CMRTA 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 9 -  June 2024 



 
 

Enclosure 9 -  June 2024 



 
 

Enclosure 9 -  June 2024 



 

Enclosure 9 -  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 10 
 

Title VI Plan Update 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 10-  June 2024 



 

 

Enclosure 10-  June 2024 



Enclosure 10-  June 2024 



 
 
 

Enclosure 10-  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 11 
 

Monthly Financial Status Report 
(April 2024) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 11-  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 11-  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12 
 

Briefing on Financial & Compliance Report 
FY 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Report on Audit of Financial Statements 

Central Midlands Council of 

Governments As of and for the year 

ended June 30, 2023 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Contents 
 
 

Page 
 

Independent Auditor's Report ....................................................................................................... 1 - 3 
Management's Discussion and Analysis ....................................................................................... 4 - 8 
Financial Statements: 
Government-Wide Financial Statements: 

Statement of Net Position ............................................................................................................ 9 
Statement of Activities .............................................................................................................. 10 

Fund Financial Statements 
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds ....................................................................................... 11 
Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Balances to the Statement of 

Net Position ........................................................................................................................... 12 
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - 

Governmental Funds ............................................................................................................. 13 
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes 

in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities .............................. 14 
Notes to Financial Statements ............................................................................................ 15 - 44 

Required Supplementary Information: 
Schedule of the Council’s Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liability ............................ 45 
Schedule of the Council’s Pension Contributions ..................................................................... 46 
Schedule of the Council’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability .............................. 47 
Schedule of the Council’s Other Postemployment Benefits Contributions ............................... 48 

Budgetary Comparison Schedules: 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - General Fund ..................................................................... 49 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Aging Special Revenue Fund ............................................ 50 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Transportation Special Revenue Fund ............................... 51 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 

Special Revenue Fund ............................................................................................................ 52 
Budgetary Comparison Schedule – Environmental Contracts Special Revenue Fund ............. 53 
Notes to Budgetary Comparison Schedules .............................................................................. 54 

Single Audit Section: 
Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and on 

Compliance and Other Matters Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with Government Auditing Standards...................................................... 55 and 56 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and 
on Internal Control Over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance .................... 57 - 59 

Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ................................................................ 60 and 61 
Notes to Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards ............................................................. 62 
Schedule of Findings and Questioned Costs ...................................................................... 63 - 65 
Schedule of Prior Audit Findings .............................................................................................. 66 
Management’s Corrective Action Plan ..................................................................................... 67 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Columbia, South Carolina 

 
Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the discretely 
presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the 
Central Midlands Council of Governments (the “Council”) as of and for the year ended June 30, 2023, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the Council's basic 
financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the discretely presented component unit, 
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Council as of June 30, 2023, and 
the respective changes in financial position for the year then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Council, and to meet our 
other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our 
audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinions. 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for 
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are 
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Council’s 
ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, 
including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 

 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



2  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute 
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud 
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence 
the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and 
Government Auditing Standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the 
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal control. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Council’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal 
control-related matters that we identified during the audit. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



3  

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis on pages 4 - 8, information concerning the Council’s retirement and OPEB plans on 
pages 45 – 48, and the budgetary comparison information on pages 49 - 54 be presented to supplement the 
basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of 
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who 
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an 
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the 
required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing 
the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic 
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because 
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance. 
Supplementary Information 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the Council’s basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards as required 
by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial 
statements and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material respects, in 
relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated May 7, 2024, 
on our consideration of the Council’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its 
compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other 
matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over 
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Council’s internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an 
integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the 
Council’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance. 

 

Columbia, South Carolina 
May 7, 2024 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 

 
This discussion and analysis of the Central Midlands Council of Governments’ (the “Council”) financial performance 
provides an overview of the Council’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2023. The MD&A should be 
read in conjunction with the accompanying basic financial statements and the accompanying notes to those 
financial statements. The discussion and analysis includes comparative data for the prior year. 

 
The Central Midlands Regional Planning Council was organized under the provisions of Article 2, Act 487 of the 
1967 South Carolina General Assembly, as amended in 1971. On December 12, 1996, the name of the council was 
renamed, by the approval of the member governments and the governor, to Central Midlands Council of 
Governments. In general, the Council has the power to carry on such planning activities and to develop such studies 
and programs related to aging, transportation, workforce innovations and other areas as it deems to be in the 
interest of the Central Midlands area, which includes Richland, Lexington, Fairfield and Newberry counties. 

 
Financial Highlights 
The following are key financial highlights for the fiscal year: 

• The net position of the Council was $(3,548,006) at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 
• As of the close of the current fiscal year, the Council’s governmental funds reported an increase of $391,167 in 

the total fund balance with a combined ending fund balance of $2,367,087. 
• The increase in the fund balance was due to increased revenues and closely monitoring expenses and reducing 

them where possible. 
 

Overview of the Financial Statements 
The financial statements for FY2023 include the Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), government- 
wide statements, fund financial statements, notes to the financial statements, and required supplementary 
information. The statements are highly condensed and present a government-wide view of the Council’s finances. 
Within this view, all Council operations are categorized as governmental. Governmental activities include aging, 
community development block grants, transportation, workforce development, environmental contracts, and 
general administration. The Council has a component unit, the Central Midlands Development Corporation. The 
Central Midlands Development Corporation is a separate entity with a separate governing board. For this overview, 
the Central Midlands Development Corporation is excluded from the Council’s financial statements. These 
government- wide statements are designed to be more corporate in that all activities are consolidated into a total 
for the Council. 

 
Basic Financial Statements 

• The Statement of Net Position focuses on resources available for future operations. In simple terms, this 
statement presents a snapshot view of the assets the Council owns, the liabilities it owes and the net 
difference. The net difference is further separated into amounts restricted for specific purposes and 
unrestricted amounts. 

• The Statement of Activities focuses on gross and net costs of the Council’s programs. This statement 
summarizes and simplifies the user’s analysis to determine the extent to which programs are self-
supporting and/or subsidized by general revenues. 

• Governmental fund statements follow the more traditional presentation of government financial 
statements. The Council’s major governmental funds are presented in their own columns and the remaining 
funds are combined into a column title “Non-major Governmental Funds”. The relationship (or differences) 
between governmental activities (reported in the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) 
and governmental funds is reconciled in the financial statements. A budgetary comparison is presented for 
the general and major funds with a legally adopted budget. 

 
• The notes to the financial statements provide additional disclosures required by governmental accounting 

standards and provide information to assist the reader in understanding the Council’s financial condition. 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
This MD&A is intended to explain the significant changes in financial position and differences in operation between the 
current and prior years. 
 
Government-wide Financial Statements 
A comparative condensed version of the Statement of Net Position at June 30, 2023, and June 30, 2022, follows: 

 
Net Position at Year-End 
Governmental Activities 

 
FY2023 

 
FY2022 

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 1,028,575 $ 848,355 
Other Assets 3,359,885 2,636,361 
Capital Assets   954,105    807,538 

Total Assets   5,342,565 4,292,254 

Deferred Outflows Related to Pensions and OPEB   1,385,688 1,649,590 

Current Liabilities 1,385,122 1,256,997 
Long-Term Liabilities   7,437,552 7,950,640 

Total Liabilities   8,822,674 9,207,637 

Deferred Inflows Related to Pensions and OPEB   1,453,585    828,527 

Net Position: 
Net investment in capital assets 

 
531,682 

 
483,782 

Unrestricted (4,079,688) (4,578,102) 
Total Net Deficit $ (3,548,006) $ (4,094,320) 

 
Cash and cash equivalents increased by approximately $180,000 due to timing, and other assets increased by 
approximately $724,000 largely due to outstanding receivables related to grant projects at year-end. Deferred outflows 
related to pensions and OPEB decreased approximately $264,000 due to changes in actuarial assumptions on the state-
wide OPEB plan. Current and long-term liabilities decreased approximately $385,000 as a result of a 
$1.2 million decrease in the net OPEB liability due to changes in assumptions previously mentioned, offset largely by an 
approximately $406,000 increase in unearned revenue due to rural infrastructure grant funds received in advance. 
Deferred inflows related to pensions and OPEB increased approximately $625,000 largely due to changes in 
assumptions on the state-wide OPEB plan previously mentioned. 

 
A comparative condensed version of the Statement of Activities follows: 

 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 
 
Revenue 

 
 

FY2023 

 
 

FY2022 
Program Revenue   
Operating grants and contributions $ 11,249,194 $ 10,721,684 
Membership Dues 626,977 611,944 
General Revenue   
State Aid 294,690 70,407 
Interest Income 775 94 
Other Revenue   138,293   10,481 
Total Revenue 12,309,929 11,414,610 

 

 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2023 and June 30, 2022 (continued) 

 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
Expenses FY2023 FY2022 

Direct Personnel Costs $ 2,722,007 $ 2,490,131 
Operations and Maintenance 696,036 607,488 
Development and Training 108,938 38,975 
Travel and Transportation 73,768 47,556 
Consulting Services 1,090,335 1,032,432 
Payments to contractors 6,083,205 5,681,128 
Other Program Expenses 733,554 736,442 
Lease interest Expense 12,890 14,310 
Unallocated Depreciation 59,372 47,332 
Unallocated Amortization   183,510   129,069 

Total 11,763,615 10,824,863 

Change in Net Position 546,314 589,747 

Beginning Net Position (4,094,320) (4,656,477) 
Implementation of GASB No. 87   -   (27,590) 
Beginning Net Position, as restated (4,094,320) (4,684,067) 

Ending Net Position $ (3,548,006) $ (4,094,320) 
 

Program revenue increased approximately $528,000 as a result of increased productivity due to the waning of 
the COVID-19 pandemic, therefore more revenue reimbursable by grants and increased state aid. State aid 
increased approximately $224,000 due to higher appropriations by the state and re-allocations based on the 
2020 census. The increase in direct personnel cost can be attributed to pay upgrades and cost-of-living 
adjustment increases. Additionally, development/training, travel/transportation, consulting services, payments 
to contractors and other programs expenses collectively experienced an overall increase of approximately 
$641,000 as a result of resumption of program activities due to the waning of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 
Financial Analysis of the Council Funds 

 
Governmental Funds - The focus of the Council's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term 
inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the Council's 
financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's 
net resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year. 

 
Governmental Funds FY2023 FY2022 

Total Assets $ 5,695,706 $ 4,904,684 
 

Total Liabilities                               3,328,619           2,928,764 
 

Fund Balances: 
Nonspendable for prepaid items 

 
35,810 

 
20,511 

Nonspendable for deposits 9,644 9,644 
Assigned for special purposes 233,996 235,031 
Unassigned   2,087,637   1,710,734 

Total Fund Balances $ 2,367,087 $ 1,975,920 
 

 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
As previously referenced on page 6, total assets increased approximately $791,000 primarily as a result of an increase in 
cash and cash equivalents due to timing and an increase in receivables due to outstanding projects at year-end, as well 
as increases in amounts due from other funds due to timing of revenue and expenditures. Total liabilities increased 
approximately $400,000 primarily due to increases in amounts due to other funds due to timing of revenue and 
expenditures. Nonspendable for prepaid items increased approximately $15,000 as a result of more prepaid expenses 
recorded in FY2023. 

 
Budgetary Highlights 

 
The Council adopts a balanced budget with budgeted expenditures equaling budgeted revenues. During the fiscal year, 
the Council revised the budget to adjust the estimates used to prepare the original budget. This is routinely done each 
year to reflect changes in funding sources, which necessitate changes in expenditures. The budgets are not legally 
adopted, however, the Council still elects to include budget to actual schedules in the supplementary information 
section of this report. 

 
Capital Assets 
At June 30, 2023, the Council had $543,466 in capital assets. 

 
FY2023 FY2022 

Land $ 130,848 $ 130,848 
Building 264,930 283,418 
Furniture and Equipment  147,688   90,242 

Net Capital Assets $ 543,466 $  504,508 
 

For more detailed information on capital asset activity, see Note 3 - Capital Assets. 
 

Right To Use Lease Assets and Lease Liability 
The Council has recorded right to use lease assets and related lease liabilities in the amounts of $410,639 and 
$422,423, respectively. The Council has a right to use the leased buildings, equipment, and vehicles until the end of their 
respective lease periods. See Notes 1, 4, and 7 in the accompanying financial statements for further details on these 
amounts. 

 
Long-Term Debt and Financing Arrangements 
The Council has an annual leave policy that permits employees to carry forward forty-five days of annual leave on 
January 1 of each year. At June 30, 2023, the accrued annual leave balance equates to $146,233. In the audited financial 
statements, $126,190 of the accrued annual leave balance is classified as current. 

 
The Council also has an unsecured line of credit with a local financial institution with a credit limit of $300,000. The 
balance of the line of credit was $0 at June 30, 203, and the Council did not access the line of credit during FY2023. 

 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year’s Budget 

 
During the FY2023, economic factors and potential new resources are as follows: 

 
• Management will continue to apply the appropriate policies and procedures to ensure financials are being 

accurately reported during the new fiscal year and make any necessary or required adjustments monthly for 
proper reporting. 

 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
 

• The Council receives an appropriation from the General Assembly each year. These funds are subject to 
reduction at any time. The Council will continue to request additional funding from the General Assembly 
to restore funding to previous pre-recession funding levels. The additional state aid will allow the Council 
to further expand its services. Any local dollars (membership dues) the Council receives are used for 
grant matching requirements. 

 
 

 
 

• Management will continue to monitor all core programs during the new fiscal year and make any 
necessary or required adjustments to expenses so that the Council remains fiscally sound. 

 
• Management has updated the membership dues of CMCOG in FY 2023-24 using the official Census 2020 

population numbers. This adjustment happens once every 10 years. 
 

• The Council is the Administrative and Fiscal Agent for the Midlands Workforce Development Board in 
support of the Workforce Innovation Opportunity ACT (WIOA) program for the Central Midlands Region. 

 
• The Council will continue to work with the Office of Economic Adjustment, Department of Defense 

Community Planning to implement the Joint Land Use Plans. 
 

• The Council operates two centers in the Central Midlands Region (Fairfield, Lexington, Richland and 
Newberry counties) and continues to work for unemployed/under employed citizens to receive WIOA 
program benefits. 

 
• The Council will continue to provide planning and technical assistance to the counties and municipalities 

within the Central Midlands region. 
 

• The Council is currently working on the Long Range Transportation Plan (LRTP) and various other 
studies to address transportation issues throughout the region. 

 
• As a 501(c)3, the Central Midlands Development Corporation (CMDC) will continue to take a more active 

role in seeking grant and foundation funding opportunities. The CMDC will act as the fiscal agent on the 
Regional Gateway Project for CMCOG member governments. 

 
• As always, the staff and Board of Directors will continue to seek alternative funding sources so that the 

Council can remain a viable resource for the member governments and communities that it serves. 
 

Requests for Financial Information 
This financial information is designed to provide a general overview of the Council’s finances for all those with an 
interest in the government’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or 
requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: 

Britt Poole, Executive Director  
Melissa Labbe, Director of Finance 
Central Midlands Council of Governments  
236 Stoneridge Drive Columbia, SC 29210 

 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 

 

CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS RECONCILIATION OF THE 
GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO THE  

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION  
AS OF JUNE 30, 2023 

 
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net 

Position are different because: 
 

Fund balance of governmental funds $ 2,367,087 
 

Capital assets, net of depreciation, are not current financial resources and are not 
included in the governmental funds 543,466 

 
Right to use leased assets, net of amortization, are not current financial resources 

and are not included in the governmental funds 410,639 
 

Net pension and OPEB liabilities are not due and payable in the current period 
and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds: 

Net pension liability (3,540,910) 
Net other postemployment benefits liability (2,691,735) 

 
Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB are 

applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental 
funds 

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions 514,229 
Deferred outflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits 871,459 
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions (154,399) 
Deferred inflows of resources related to other postemployment benefits (1,299,186) 

 
Long-term liabilities, including accrued annual leave and lease liability, are not 

due and payable in the current period and, therefore, are not reported in the 
governmental funds: 

Accrued annual leave (146,233) 
Lease liability   (422,423) 

 

Net Position of Governmental Activities  $ (3,548,006) 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
 
 
 
 

12 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
 

13 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
RECONCILIATION OF THE STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

 
 
 
 

Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 391,167 
 

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities differ from the 
amounts in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances because: 

 
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures; however, in the Statement 

of Activities, the costs of those assets are allocated over the estimated useful lives as 
depreciation expense, or are allocated to the appropriate functional expense when the 
cost is below the capitalization threshold. These activities are reconciled below: 

Additions to capital assets 98,330 
Depreciation expense on capital assets (59,372) 
Related amortization expense on right-to-use leased assets (183,510) 

 
Governmental funds report pension contributions as expenditures; however, in the 

Statement of Activities, the cost of pension benefits earned net of employee 
contributions is reported as pension expense. 

 

Council pension contributions $ 331,734 
Pension expense (239,758) 91,976 

 

 
Governmental funds report OPEB contributions as expenditures; however, in the 

Statement of Activities, the cost of OPEB benefits earned net of employee 
contributions is reported as OPEB expense. 

 

Council OPEB contributions $ 118,492 
OPEB expense (143,151) (24,659) 

 

 
The issuance of long-term debt provides current financial resources to governmental 

funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt consumes the current 
financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction has any effect on net 
position. This amount is the net effect of these differences in the treatment of long-
term debt and related items. 

 

Principal payments on long-term debt $ 194,460 
 

Accrued annual leave is measured by the amounts earned during the year. In the 
governmental funds, however, expenditures for these items are measured by the 
amount of financial resources used (essentially, the amounts actually paid). This year, 
the amounts 
used exceeded the amount accrued for annual leave. 37,922 

 

 

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities $ 546,314 
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this statement. 
 
 
 
 

14 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

15 

 

 

 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

The accounting and reporting policies of the Central Midlands Council of Governments (the “Council”) 
conform to accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to 
governments. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies: 

 
Reporting Entity - The Central Midlands Regional Planning Council was organized under the provisions 
of Article 2, Act 487 of the 1967 South Carolina General Assembly, as amended in 1971. On December 
12, 1996, the name of the council was renamed, by the approval of the member governments and the 
governor, to Central Midlands Council of Governments. The Council does not have stockholders or equity 
holders and is not subject to income taxes. In general, the Council has the power to carry on such planning 
activities and to develop such studies and programs related to aging, transportation, workforce 
innovations, environmental contracts, and other areas as it deems to be in the interest of the Central 
Midlands area, which includes Richland, Lexington, Fairfield and Newberry counties. 

 
The financial reporting entity, as defined by Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
consists of the primary government, organizations for which the primary government is financially 
accountable, and other organizations for which the nature and significance of their relationship with 
the primary government are such that exclusion could cause the financial statements to be misleading 
or incomplete. Based on the following criteria, the Council has determined it is not a component unit 
of any other organization. Therefore, the Council reports as a primary entity. 

 
The primary entity is financially accountable if it appoints a voting majority of the organization's governing 
body including situations in which the voting majority consists of the primary entity's officials serving as 
required by law and (1) it is able to impose its will on that organization or (2) there is a potential for the 
organization to provide specific financial benefits to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the primary 
entity. The primary entity also may be financially accountable if an organization is fiscally dependent on 
it even if it does not appoint a voting majority of the board. An organization is fiscally dependent on the 
primary entity that holds one or more of the following powers: determine its budget without another 
government's having the authority to approve and modify that budget, levy taxes or set rates or charges 
without approval by another government, and issue bonded debt without approval by another government. 

 
Discretely Presented Component Unit - The Central Midlands Development Corporation (CMDC) is a 
legally separate entity with a separate board of directors. CMDC was established as a South 
Carolina corporation on May 17, 1982 to further economic development and social welfare of the Central 
Midlands region. CMDC is organized for charitable purposes as a 501(c)(3) non-profit organization to 
promote community development, environmental conservation, elderly services, and transportation for the 
benefit of the citizens of Richland, Lexington, Fairfield, and Newberry Counties. The CMDC is fiscally 
dependent on the Council. Central Midlands Development Corporation is considered to be a component 
unit of the Council and has been included as a discretely presented component unit. The component 
unit's year-end is June 30. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

16 

 

 

 

Basis of Accounting 
 

The accounts of the Council are organized on the basis of governmental funds. The operations of each 
fund are accounted for with a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, 
fund equity, revenues, and expenditures. Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for 
in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which 
spending activities are controlled. 

 
Government-wide Statements - The statement of net position and the statement of activities display 
information about the Council. These statements include the financial activities of the overall government, 
except for fiduciary activities. Eliminations have been made to minimize the effect of internal activities 
upon revenues and expenses. Governmental activities generally are financed through intergovernmental 
revenues, and other non-exchange transactions. 

 
The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct expenses and program revenues for 
each function of the Council’s governmental activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically 
associated with a program or function, and, therefore, are clearly identifiable to a particular function. 
Program revenues include grants and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or 
capital requirements of a particular program. Revenues that are not program revenues are presented as 
general revenues. The effect of inter-fund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide 
financial statements. 

 
Fund Financial Statements - The fund financial statements provide information about the Council’s 
funds. Separate statements for each fund category – governmental and fiduciary – are presented. The 
emphasis of fund financial statements is on major governmental funds and aggregated non-major funds, 
each displayed in a separate column. 

 
The Council reports the following major governmental funds: 

 
General Fund - The General Fund is the government's primary operating fund. It accounts for all 
financial resources of the Council, except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
The Aging Special Revenue Fund - The Aging Special Revenue fund is used to account for receipts 
and expenditures of money passed through the South Carolina Department on Aging. These funds are 
used to promote coordination of aging services in the region. 

 
The Transportation Special Revenue Fund - The Transportation Special Revenue Fund is used to 
account for receipts and expenditures of money passed through from the United States and South 
Carolina Departments of Transportation. These funds are used to provide region-wide transportation 
planning technical assistance to local governments and the Central Midlands Regional Transportation 
Authority. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

17 

 

 

 

Basis of Accounting (continued) 
 

The Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) Special Revenue Fund - The Workforce 
Innovation and Opportunity Act (WIOA) Special Revenue Fund is used to account for the receipts and 
expenditures of money passed from the United States Department of Labor to the South Carolina 
Department of Employment and Workforce to provide workforce investment activities that increase 
employment, retention, earnings, and skills of participants. 

 
The Environmental Contracts Special Revenue Fund – The Environmental Contracts Special 
Revenue Fund is used to account for receipts and expenditures passed from the United States 
Environmental Protection Agency to the South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental 
Control to provide support for environmental planning activities and to examine regional environmental 
issues such as air and water quality, open space preservation, sustainable energy, and environmental 
justice. 

 
Additionally, the Council reports the following fund type: 

 
The Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds - The Nonmajor Special Revenue Funds are operating funds 
used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are legally restricted for specific 
purposes. 

 
Government-wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements are reported using 
the economic resource measurement focus and the accrual basis, revenues are recognized when earned, and 
expenses are recorded when an obligation has been incurred, regardless of when the related cash flows take 
place. Non-exchange transactions, in which the Council gives (or receives) value without directly receiving 
(or giving) equal value in exchange, include grants and donations. Revenue from grants and donations is 
recognized in the fiscal year in which all eligibility requirements have been satisfied. 

 
Governmental funds are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and modified 
accrual basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recognized when measurable and available 
to finance expenditures of the current period. Accordingly, revenues are recorded when received in cash, 
except that revenues subject to accrual (generally 60 days after year end) are recognized when due. The 
primary sources susceptible to accrual are investment income and grant revenue. 

 
Expenditures are recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for claims and judgments and 
compensated absences, which are recognized as expenditures to the extent they have matured. General 
capital asset acquisitions are reported as expenditures in governmental funds. Payments of general long- 
term debt and acquisitions under capital leases are reported as other financing uses. Funds received but not 
yet earned are reflected as unearned revenues. 

 
Component Unit – The Central Midlands Development Corporation financial statements are reported 
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are 
recorded when earned, and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred regardless of the timing of 
related cash flows. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Basis of Accounting 
 

18 

 

 

 

Use of resources - When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the Council’s 
policy to use restricted resources first, and then unrestricted resources as they are needed. 

 
Budget - As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the 
Council adopted a legal budget for the year ended June 30, 2023, general resources, and the related 
expenditures required to earn those resources. The budget is adopted and amended, as considered 
necessary, by approval from the Board of Directors and/or Executive Committee. 

 
The Council adopts an annual legal budget, which covers the General fund and certain Special Revenue 
Funds. The budgets for the General Fund and certain Special Revenue Funds are prepared on the 
modified accrual basis. The statements comparing budgets and actual amounts for these governmental 
funds include adjustments to those budgetary bases for the differences noted above and for certain other 
items which are reported in the Council's budget differently than they are reported for accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States. Budgetary level of control is exercised at the 
department level. Any revisions that alter total expenditures of the General Fund and certain Special 
Revenue Funds must be approved by the Board of Directors. During fiscal year 2023, the Council did 
approve budgetary expenditure amendments. 

 
The Budgetary Comparison Schedules included in the required supplementary information presents a 
comparison of budgetary data to actual results of operations for the General Fund and major Special 
Revenue Funds (Aging, Transportation, Workforce Investment and Opportunity Act, and 
Environmental Contracts), for which an annual operating budget is legally adopted. These funds utilize 
the same basis of accounting for both budgetary purposes and actual results. 

 
The Executive Director and all program directors and managers receive interim financial reports. 
Progress reports on the Council’s budgetary and fiscal status are submitted to the Board of Directors 
quarterly. Significant variations are explained. Problem areas and the probable solutions are identified. 
All actual revenues and expenditures over final budget amounts for the general fund and each special 
revenue fund are funded by overages of other accounts within the fund. Overages in total in the special 
revenue funds will be covered by the transfers from the general fund. 

 
When the Executive Director determines that it is necessary to amend the budget, the amended budget 
is taken to the Executive Committee for approval. Revisions may be considered to reflect: 

 
(1) changes made by the addition of new grant awards not anticipated in preparing the 
initial budget; (2) additional costs incurred as a result of increased work activities; or (3) 
unanticipated costs which have occurred beyond normal operating control. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Basis of Accounting 
 

19 

 

 

 

Indirect Cost Allocation - Cost allocations made by the council are in accordance with the guidelines 
of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Subpart E – Cost Principles. These 
guidelines provide that allowable indirect costs are identified and accumulated in an indirect cost pool 
and distributed to applicable federal, state and local grant activities and programs based upon an 
appropriate actual indirect cost allocation methodology. Certain employee benefits are accumulated in 
a fringe benefit cost pool and allocated to grant projects as a percentage of labor costs, referred to as 
release time. In accordance with Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Subpart E 
– Cost Principles, the cost allocations are subject to subsequent federal audit or review. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - The Council maintains cash and pooled investments that are available 
for use by all funds. Cash includes cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term investments with an 
original maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents. 

 
Accounts Receivable - Accounts receivable consists of amounts due from the Federal government, 
state and local governments or private sources, in connection with reimbursement of allowable 
expenditures made pursuant to the Council’s grants and contracts. 

 
Prepaid Items - Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are 
recorded as prepaid items in both government-wide and fund financial statements using the consumption 
method. An asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the time of the purchase and an expenditure/expense 
is reported in the year which services are consumed. 

 
Capital Assets - The Council accounts for capital asset purchases by recording acquisitions at cost or 
estimated historical cost. Donated assets are recorded at their estimated acquisition value at the date of 
donation. The Council capitalizes moveable personal property with a unit value in excess of $1,500 and a 
useful life in excess of one year. Routine repairs and maintenance are charged to expenses in the year in 
which the expense was incurred. Capital assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives using the 
straight-line method of depreciation. Useful lives of the Council's capital assets are as follows: 

 
Buildings and improvements 15-40 years 
Equipment 3-10 years 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

Right to Use Leased Assets - The Council has implemented GASB Statement No. 87, Leases. The 

20 

 

 

objective of GASB No. 87 is to better meet the information needs of financial statement users by 
improving accounting and financial reporting for leases by governments. This Statement increases the 
usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and 
liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of 
resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single 
model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to 
use an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an 
intangible right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred 
inflow of resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ 
leasing activities. 

 
The Council has recorded right to use leased assets as a result of implementing GASB No. 87. The right 
to use assets are initially measured at an amount equal to the initial measurement of the related lease 
liability plus any lease payments made prior to the lease term, less lease incentives, and plus ancillary 
charges necessary to place the lease into service. The right to use assets are amortized on a straight-line 
basis over the life of the related lease. 

 
See Note 4 for further information. 

 
Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - In addition to liabilities, the statement of net position will 
sometimes report a separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement 
element, deferred inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future 
period(s) and so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until then. The Council has 
two items that qualify for reporting in this category for inflows related to pensions and other 
postemployment benefits (OPEB). The inflows related to pensions and OPEB are described in Notes 
10 and 11. 

 
Deferred outflows of resources represent consumption of net position that is applicable to a future 
period. Changes in net pension and net OPEB liabilities not included in expenses are reported as 
deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources. Employer contributions subsequent to 
the measurement date of the net pension and net OPEB liabilities are reported as deferred outflows of 
resources. 

 
Unearned Revenues - Unearned revenues in the governmental funds include amounts received from 
grant and contract sponsors that have not yet been earned due to being in advance of meeting eligibility 
requirements. 

 
Accrued Annual Leave - All vested annual leave pay is recorded as an expenditure in the current year 
to the extent it is paid during the year. Council employees can accumulate annual leave up to forty-five 
days for subsequent use or for payment upon termination, death or retirement. Any days beyond that 
limit accrued and not taken by the end of the calendar year are forfeited. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

21 

 

 

 

Deferred Compensation Agreement - The Council offers its employees a voluntary deferred 
compensation plan structured and operated according to provisions of Internal Revenue Code Section 457. 
The plan is administered by an agency of the State of South Carolina and the Council makes no 
contributions on behalf of the participants. The Council's liability is limited to remitting amounts deferred 
and withheld from the employee's wages to the Plan administrator. 

 
Operating Transfers - Operating transfers are distributions of local cash resources to grant projects 
requiring local cash match in accordance with the terms and conditions of grant contracts and or to absorb 
any deficit in any grant project. Local funds are derived from Council dues paid by member 
governments, state aid funds, sale of data and information, internet advertising and internet web hosting. 

 
Interfund Receivables and Payables - During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur 
between individual funds for goods provided or services rendered. These receivables and payables are 
classified as "due from other funds" or "due to other funds" on the governmental funds balance sheet. 

 
Pensions - For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and 
deferred inflows of resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary 
net position of the South Carolina Retirement System (SCRS) and additions to/deductions from SCRS’s 
fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by SCRS. For this 
purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due and 
payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value. 

 
Post-employment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“OPEB”) - For purposes of measuring the net 
OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB, and 
OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the South Carolina Retiree Health 
Insurance Trust Fund (SCRHITF) and additions to/deductions from the SCRHITF’s fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the accrual basis of accounting as they are reported by the SCRHITF in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). For this purpose, revenues are 
recognized when earned and expenses and benefits are recognized when incurred. Claims liabilities are 
reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount can be reasonably estimated. 
Investments are reported at fair value. 

 
Non-exchange Transactions - The Council generally has two types of non-exchange transactions, 
government-mandated non-exchange transactions (which occur when a government at one level 
provides resources to a government at another level and requires the recipient to use the resources for 
a specific purpose) and voluntary non-exchange transactions (which result from legislative or 
contractual agreements other than exchanges, entered into willingly by the parties to the agreement). 
The Council recognizes non-exchange transactions when they are both measurable and probable for 
collection. For government-mandated non-exchange transactions and voluntary non-exchange 
transactions, the Council recognized assets when all applicable eligibility requirements are met, or 
resources are received, whichever is first, and revenue when all applicable eligibility requirements are 
met. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

22 

 

 

 

Net Position - The Council’s net position in the government-wide financial statements are classified 
as follows: 

 
Net investment in capital assets: This represents the Council’s total investment in capital assets 
and right to use leased assets, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. 

 
Restricted net position: This category represents resources in which the Council is legally or 
contractually obligated by external parties such as lenders, grantors, contributors or by laws or 
regulations to spend in accordance with the restrictions imposed. 

 
Unrestricted net position: Unrestricted net position consists of all other assets not 
included in the above categories. 

 
The Council’s policy for applying expenses that can use both restricted and unrestricted resources is 
designated to the program administrative level. General practice is to first apply the expense to the 
restricted resource then to unrestricted resources. 

 
Fund Balances - In the governmental fund financial statements, the Council’s fund balances are 
classified as follows: 

 
Nonspendable fund balance - Includes amounts that cannot be spent because they are either (a) 
not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. The “not in 
spendable form” criterion includes items that are not expected to be converted to cash, for example, 
security deposits and prepaid amounts. 

 
Restricted fund balance - Represents amounts that are (a) externally imposed by creditors, 
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; or (b) are imposed by law 
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. 

 
Committed fund balance - Represents amounts that can only be used for specific purposes 
pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision- 
making authority. 

 
Assigned fund balance - Amounts are constrained by the government’s intent to be used for 
specific purposes, but are neither restricted nor committed. 

 
Unassigned fund balance - Represents the fund balance that has not been assigned to other funds 
and that has not been restricted, committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general 
fund. The Council reports positive unassigned fund balance only in the General Fund. For all other 
funds, deficits in Fund balance at year-end are reported as unassigned. 

 
When expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance 
classifications could be used, the Council’s general practice is to first reduce committed resources, 
followed by assigned resources, and then unassigned resources. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 
 

23 

 

 

 

Income Taxes - The Council is excluded from Federal income taxes under Section 115(1) of the 
Internal Revenue Code. 

 
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. The most significant estimates affecting these financial 
statements are the estimates for the net pension and OPEB liabilities. 

 
Note 2. Cash and Investments 

 
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 
orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Observable inputs are 
developed based on market data obtained from sources independent of the reporting entity. 
Unobservable inputs are developed based on the best information available about the assumptions 
market participants would use in pricing the asset. The classification of securities within the fair value 
hierarchy is based upon the activity level in the market for the security type and the inputs used to 
determine their fair value, as follows: 

 
Level 1 - unadjusted price quotations in active markets/exchanges for identical assets or liabilities 
that each Fund has the ability to access. 

 
Level 2 - other observable inputs (including, but not limited to, quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in markets that are active, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in 
markets that are not active, inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the assets and 
liabilities (such as interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, loss severities, credit risks and default 
rates) or other market-corroborated inputs). 

 
Level 3 - unobservable inputs based on the best information available in the circumstances, to the 
extent observable inputs are not available (including each Fund’s own assumptions used in 
determining the fair value of investments). 

 
The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical 
assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 
measurements). Accordingly, the degree of judgment exercised in determining fair value is greatest for 
instruments categorized in Level 3. The inputs used to measure fair value may fall into different levels 
of the fair value hierarchy. In such cases, for disclosure purposes, the fair value hierarchy classification 
is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its 
entirety. 

 
The Council maintains a cash and cash equivalent investment pool that is available for use by all funds. 
Each fund portion of this pool is shown on the balance sheet as pooled cash and cash equivalents. 
Transfers from the Local Government Investment Pool (LGIP) are made at the request of the Council. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 2. Cash and Investments 
 

24 

 

 

 

Individual funds may maintain cash and cash equivalents separate from the pool for convenience and 
control. Petty cash and working funds are maintained for nonrecurring incidental purchases. Such 
holdings are shown on the governmental balance sheet as non-pooled cash and cash equivalents. 

 
Total cash and cash equivalents at June 30, 2023, consisted of the following: 

 
Demand deposits $ 1,014,130 
Money market accounts 10 
Cash on hand 40 
LGIP   14,395  

Total cash and cash equivalents   $ 1,028,575  
 

 
Deposits with financial institutions include bank demand deposits. 

 
Credit Risk - South Carolina statutes authorize investments in certificates of deposit, savings accounts, 
repurchase agreements, the State Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool, obligations of the U.S. 
Government and government agencies unconditionally guaranteed by the U.S. Government. The Council 
has no investment policy that would further restrict its choices. 

 
At June 30, 2023, the Council’s LGIP was rated as follows: 

 
   Type   Classification   Total  
SC Local Government Investment Pool   Level 2  $  14,395  

 

 

The local government investment pool is a 2a7-like pool which is not registered with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission (SEC) as an investment company, but has a policy that it will operate in a 
manner consistent with the SEC’s Rule 2a7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940. The Pool is 
included as an investment trust fund in the State of South Carolina Comprehensive Annual Financial 
Report. At June 30, 2023, the underlying security ratings of the Council's investment in the LGIP is 
classified in risk category “A” and may be obtained from the LGIP's complete financial statements at 
treasurer.sc.gov or by writing to the following address: 

 
Office of the State Treasurer 
Local Government Investment 
Pool Post Office Box 11778 
Columbia, South Carolina 29211 

 
Interest Rate Risk - In accordance with its investment policy, the Council manages its exposure to 
declines in fair values by limiting the weighted average maturity of its investment portfolio to less than 
twelve months. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 2. Cash and Investments 
 

25 

 

 

 

It is the policy of the State Treasurer’s Office that no derivatives of the U.S. Government Securities or 
Federal Agency Securities or A1/P1 Commercial Paper be purchased by or for the LGIP. It is the policy 
of the State Treasurer’s Office that the weighted average maturity (WAM) of the LGIP portfolio not 
exceed 60 days. 

 
Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the Council’s 
cash equivalents and deposits may not be returned to the Council. At year-end, the Council’s net carrying 
amount of deposits was $1,014,140 and the bank balance was $1,336,547. Cash on deposit in excess 
of FDIC insured limits totaled $1,072,152 at June 30, 2023. 

 

As of June 30, 2023, the Council held the following investments: 
 

Balance Sheet 

 
 

Carrying 

 
% of 

Investment 
  Investment Type    Classification    Value      Portfolio  
SC Local Government Investment Pool Cash and Equivalents  $ 14,395 100% 

  

 

Foreign Currency Risk - Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will 
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. The Council does not maintain deposits that are 
denominated in a currency other than the United States dollar; therefore, the Council is not exposed to 
this risk. 

 
Concentration of Credit Risk - The Council’s investment policy does not allow for an investment in 
any one issuer that is in excess of 5 percent (5%) investments, when needed. 

 
Note 3. Capital Assets 
 

The following is a summary of changes in capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2023: 
 

Beginnin
g 
Balance 

Ending 
Balanc

e 
July 1, 2022 Increases Decreases June 30, 2023 

Governmental Activities: 
Capital assets, not being depreciated: 

 

Land   $ 130,848    $ -    $ -    $ 130,848  
Capital assets, being depreciated: 

Building 
 

749,214 
 

- 
 

- 
 

749,214 
Equipment and furniture   433,060    98,330    -    531,390  

Total capital assets being depreciated 1,182,274 98,330 - 1,280,604 
Less accumulated depreciation for:     

Building (465,796) (18,488) - (484,284) 
Equipment and furniture   (342,818)    (40,884)    -    (383,702)  

Total accumulated depreciation   (808,614)    (59,372)    -    (867,986)  
Total capital assets, net   $ 504,508  $ 38,958 $ - $ 543,466 

 

 
Depreciation expense of $59,372 was charged to the general administration function in the primary 
government. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



26 

 

 

Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
Note 4. Right To Use Leased Assets 
 

The following is a summary of changes in right to use leased assets for the year ended June 30, 2023: 
 

 Beginning 
Balance 

  Ending 
Balance 

 July 1, 2022 Increases Decreases June 30, 2023 
Governmental Activities:     
Right to use leased assets, being amortized:     

Building $ 815,643 $ 245,829 $ - $ 1,061,472 
Equipment and furniture 120,592 - - 120,592 
Vehicles   187,090    45,290    -    232,380  

Total right to use leased assets being 
amortized 

 
1,123,325 

 
291,119 

 
- 

 
1,414,444 

Less accumulated amortization for:     

Building (666,335) (112,430) - (778,765) 
Equipment and furniture (48,705) (24,119) - (72,824) 
Vehicles   (105,255)    (46,961)    -    (152,216)  

Total accumulated amortization   (820,295)    (183,510)    -    (1,003,805)  
Total right to use leased assets, net   $ 303,030  $ 107,609 $ - $ 410,639 

 

 
Amortization expense of $183,510 was charged to the program administration function in the primary 
government. 

 
Note 5. Long-Term Liabilities 

 
A summary of changes in long-term liabilities is as follows: 

 
 Balances 

July 1, 
  2022  

 

  Additions  

 

  Reductions  

Balances 
June 20, 

  2023  

Due 
Within 

  One Year  
Accrued annual leave $ 184,154 $ 139,267 $ (177,188) $ 146,233 $ 126,190 
Net pension liability 3,323,442 217,468 - 3,540,910 - 
Net OPEB liability 3,867,489 - (1,175,754) 2,691,735 - 
Lease liability   323,756  271,662  (172,995)  422,423  171,704 

Total  $7,698,841 $   628,397 $(1,525,937) $  6,801,301 $ 297,894  
 

For the governmental activities, compensated absences, net pension liability, net OPEB liability, and 
lease liability are generally liquidated by the General Fund. 

 
Note 6. Short-Term Note Payable – Line-of-Credit 
 

The Council has an unsecured line-of-credit for $300,000 with a maturity date of August 1, 2025. The 
line-of-credit is a variable rate nondisclosable revolving line of credit. The purpose of obtaining the 
line-of-credit is to meet any current obligations. The interest rate on the line-of-credit is the lender’s 
prime rate plus 1.25%, with an interest floor of 5.0% and with an interest rate ceiling of 18.0%. The 
Council did not use the credit line during fiscal year 2023. There was $0 outstanding on the line-of- 
credit at June 30, 2023, and no interest was paid during the year ended June 30, 2023. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



27 

 

 

Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
Note 7. Leases 
 

The Council leases various office space, vehicles, and equipment from unrelated parties. The lease 
agreements qualify as other than short-term leases under GASB 87 and, therefore, have been recorded at 
the present value of the future minimum lease payments as of the date of inception. The leases expire 
between March 2024 and June 2031, with total monthly rental rates of $17,333. The lease liabilities are 
measured at discount rates between 2.90% and 3.59%, which was the Council’s borrowing rate for similar 
office space, vehicles, and equipment at the time of its lease commitments. 

Future minimum lease obligations for other than short-term leases and the net present value of these 
minimum lease payments as of June 30, 2023 were as follows: 

 
Fiscal year ended June 30,:   Principal     Interest     Total  

2024 $ 171,704  $ 11,547  $ 183,251 
2025 102,577  7,011  109,588 
2026 64,415  4,080  68,495 
2027 58,903  1,977  60,880 
2028 20,581  291  20,872 

2029-2031   4,243     150     4,393  
   $ 422,423   $ 25,056  $ 447,479 

Note 8. Related Party Transactions 
     

 
Member Local Government Dues - All member governments are required to pay dues to the Council. 
Dues are determined annually and are recognized as revenues when assessed because they are 
measurable and are collectible within the current period. Dues for the year were $626,977. 

 
Note 9. Contingencies 
 

The Council is party to various lawsuits arising out of the normal conduct of its operations. In the 
opinion of the Council’s management, the ultimate effect of these legal matters will not have a material 
adverse effect of the Council’s financial position. 

 
The Council participates in certain federal and state grant programs. These programs are subject to 
financial and compliance audits by the grantor or its representative. Such audits could lead to requests 
for reimbursement to the grantor agency for expenditures disallowed under terms of the grant. 
Management believes disallowances, if any, will not be material. 

 
The Council has been named as a party in a U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission 
(“EEOC”) claim filed. The claim is currently pending before the South Carolina Human Affairs 
Commission. Management plans to provide the necessary input and cooperation to assist in the 
EEOC’s investigation while thoroughly defending the charges. Any attorney’s fees or potential 
liability, with the exception of the Council’s policy deductible, would be covered by the Council’s 
insurance carrier. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

28 

 

 

 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

The South Carolina Public Employee Benefit Authority (“PEBA”), created July 1, 2012, is the state 
agency responsible for the administration and management of the various Retirement Systems and 
retirement programs of the state of South Carolina, including the State Optional Retirement Program 
and the S.C. Deferred Compensation Program, as well as the state’s employee insurance programs. As 
such, PEBA is responsible for administering the South Carolina Retirement Systems’ five defined 
benefit pension plans. PEBA has an 11-member Board of Directors, appointed by the Governor and 
General Assembly leadership, which serves as custodian, co-trustee and co-fiduciary of the Systems 
and the assets of the retirement trust funds. The Retirement System Investment Commission 
(“Commission” as the governing body, “RSIC” as the agency), created by the General Assembly in 
2005, has exclusive authority to invest and manage the retirement trust funds’ assets. The Commission, 
an eight-member board, serves as co-trustee and co-fiduciary for the assets of the retirement trust funds. 
By law, the State Fiscal Accountability Authority (“SFAA”), which consists of five elected officials, 
also reviews certain PEBA Board decisions regarding the actuary of the Systems. 

 
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 
to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the Systems and 
additions to/deductions from the Systems fiduciary net position have been determined on the accrual 
basis of accounting as they are reported by the Systems in accordance with GAAP. For this purpose, 
revenues are recognized when earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. Benefit and refund 
expenses are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the terms of the plan. Investments 
are reported at fair value. 

 
PEBA issues an ACFR containing financial statements and required supplementary information for the 
Systems’ Pension Trust Funds. The ACFR is publicly available through PEBA’s website at 
www.peba.sc.gov, or a copy may be obtained by submitting a request to PEBA, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, 
Columbia, SC 29223. PEBA is considered a division of the primary government of the state of South 
Carolina and therefore, retirement trust fund financial information is also included in the annual 
comprehensive financial report of the state. 

 
Plan Descriptions 
 

• The South Carolina Retirement System (“SCRS”), a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined 
benefit pension plan, was established effective July 1, 1945, pursuant to the provisions of 
Section 9-1-20 of the South Carolina Code of Laws for the purpose of providing retirement and 
other benefits for teachers and employees of the state and its political subdivisions. SCRS covers 
employees of state agencies, public school districts and participating charter schools, public 
higher education institutions, other participating local subdivisions of government and first-
term individuals elected to the South Carolina General Assembly. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 

http://www.peba.sc.gov/


Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

29 

 

 

 

• The State Optional Retirement Program (“State ORP”) is a defined contribution plan that is 
offered as an alternative to SCRS to newly hired state, public higher education institution and 
public school district employees, as well as first-term individuals elected to the South Carolina 
General Assembly. State ORP participants direct the investment of their funds into an account 
administered by one of four third party service providers. PEBA assumes no liability for State 
ORP benefits. Rather, the benefits are the liability of the four third party service providers. For 
this reason, State ORP assets are not part of the retirement systems’ trust funds for financial 
statement purposes. 

 
• The Council does not have employees that participate in the Police Officers Retirement 
System (“PORS”). 

 
Membership 

 
Membership requirements are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. A brief 
summary of the requirements under each system is presented below. 

 
• SCRS - Generally, all employees of covered employers are required to participate in and 
contribute to the system as a condition of employment. This plan covers general employees and 
teachers and first- term individuals elected to the South Carolina General Assembly. An 
employee member of the system with an effective date of membership prior to July 1, 2012, is a 
Class Two member. An employee member of the system with an effective date of membership 
on or after July 1, 2012, is a Class Three member. 

 
• State ORP - As an alternative to membership in SCRS, newly hired state, public higher 
education institution and public school district employees, as well as first-term individuals 
elected to the S.C. General Assembly have the option to participate in the State ORP. 
Contributions to the State ORP are at the same rates as SCRS. A direct remittance is required 
from the employer to the member’s account with the ORP service provider for the employee 
contribution and a portion of the employer contribution (5 percent). A direct remittance is also 
required to SCRS for the remaining portion of the employer contribution and an incidental 
death benefit contribution, if applicable, which is retained by SCRS. 

 
Benefits 

 
Benefit terms are prescribed in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. PEBA does not have the 
authority to establish or amend benefit terms without a legislative change in the code of laws. Key 
elements of the benefit calculation include the benefit multiplier, years of service, and average final 
compensation/current annual salary. A brief summary of the benefit terms for each system is presented 
below. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

30 

 

 

 

• SCRS - A Class Two member who has separated from service with at least five or more years 
of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension at age 65 or with 28 years credited service 
regardless of age. A member may elect early retirement with reduced pension benefits payable 
at age 55 with 25 years of service credit. A Class Three member who has separated from service 
with at least eight or more years of earned service is eligible for a monthly pension upon 
satisfying the Rule of 90 requirement that the total of the member’s age and the member’s 
creditable service equals at least 90 years. Both Class Two and Class Three members are 
eligible to receive a reduced deferred annuity at age 60 if they satisfy the five- or eight-year 
earned service requirement, respectively. An incidental death benefit is also available to 
beneficiaries of active and retired members of employers who participate in the death benefit 
program. 

 
The annual retirement allowance of eligible retirees or their surviving annuitants is increased by the 
lesser of one percent or five hundred dollars every July 1. Only those annuitants in receipt of a benefit 
on July 1 of the preceding year are eligible to receive the increase. Members who retire under the early 
retirement provisions at age 55 with 25 years of service are not eligible for the benefit adjustment until 
the second July 1 after reaching age 60 or the second July 1 after the date they would have had 28 years 
of service credit had they not retired. 

 
Contributions 

 
Actuarial valuations are performed annually by an external consulting actuary to ensure applicable 
contribution rates satisfy the funding parameters specified in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of 
Laws. Under these provisions, SCRS contribution requirements must be sufficient to maintain an 
amortization period for the financing of the unfunded actuarial accrued liability (“UAAL”) over a 
period that does not exceed the number of years scheduled in state statute. Legislation in 2017 
increased, but also established a ceiling for SCRS employee contribution rates. Effective July 1, 2017, 
employee rates were increased to a capped rate of 9.00 percent for SCRS. The legislation also increased 
employer contribution rates beginning July 1, 2017 for SCRS by two percentage points and further 
scheduled employer contribution rates to increase by a minimum of one percentage point each year in 
accordance with state statute. However, the General Assembly postponed the one percent increase in 
the SCRS employer contribution rates that was scheduled to go into effect beginning July 1, 2020. In 
accordance with the legislative funding schedule, employer contribution rates will continue to increase 
by 1 percentage point each year until reaching 18.56 percent for SCRS but may be increased further, 
if the scheduled contributions are not sufficient to meet the funding periods set for the applicable year. 
The board shall increase the employer contribution rates as necessary to meet the amortization period 
set in statute. 

 
Pension reform legislation modified statute such that the employer contribution rates for SCRS to be 
further increased, not to exceed one‐half of one percent in any one year if necessary, in order to improve 
the funding of the plans. The statute set rates intended to reduce the unfunded liability of SCRS to the 
maximum amortization period of 20 years from 30 years over a ten‐year schedule, as determined by 
the annual actuarial valuations of the plan. Finally, under the revised statute, the contribution rates for 
SCRS may not be decreased until the plans are at least 85 percent funded. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

31 

 

 

 
Required employee contribution rates1 are as follows: 

    Fiscal Year 2023  
 

Fiscal Year 2022 
SCRS 

Employee Class Two 9.00% 9.00% 
Employee Class Three 9.00% 9.00% 

 
State ORP 9.00% 9.00% 

 
Required employer contribution rates1 are as follows: 

 
SCRS 

Employer Class Two 17.41% 16.41% 
Employer Class Three 17.41% 16.41% 
Employer Incidental Death Benefit 0.15% 0.15% 

 
State ORP 

Employer Contribution2 17.41% 16.41% 
Employer Incidental Death Benefit 0.15% 0.15% 

 
1 Calculated on earnable compensation as defined in Title 9 of the South Carolina Code of Laws. 
2 Of this employer contribution, 5% of earnable compensation must be remitted by the employer 
directly to the ORP service provider to be allocated to the member’s account with the remainder of 
the employer contribution remitted to SCRS. 

 

Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 
 

Actuarial valuations of the ongoing plan involve estimates of the reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about 
future employment, mortality, and future salary increases. Amounts determined regarding the net 
pension liability are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations 
and new estimates are made about the future. South Carolina state statute requires that an actuarial 
experience study be completed at least once in each five-year period. An experience report on the 
Systems was most recently issued for the period ending June 30, 2019. 

 
The June 30, 2022, total pension liability (“TPL”), net pension liability (“NPL”), and sensitivity 
information shown in this report were determined by a consulting actuary, Gabriel, Roeder, Smith and 
Company (“GRS”) and are based on an actuarial valuation performed as of July 1, 2021. The total 
pension liability was rolled-forward from the valuation date to the plans’ fiscal year end, June 30, 2022, 
using generally accepted actuarial principles. There was no legislation enacted during the 2021 
legislative session that had a material change in the benefit provisions for any of the systems. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

32 

 

 

 

The following provides a summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods used to calculate the TPL 
as of June 30, 2022: 

  SCRS  
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal 

Actuarial assumptions: 
Investment rate of return1  7.00% 
Projected salary increases 3.0% to 11.0% 

(varies by service) 1 

Benefit adjustments lesser of 1% or $500 
annually 

1 Includes inflation at 2.25% 
The post-retiree mortality assumption is dependent upon the member's job category and gender. The 
base mortality assumptions, the 2020 Public Retirees of South Carolina Mortality table (“2020 PRSC”) 
was developed using the Systems’ mortality experience. These base rates are adjusted for future 
improvement in mortality using 80% of Scale UMP projected from the year 2020. 

 
Assumptions used in the determination of the June 30, 2022 TPL are as follows: 

 
Former Job Class Males Females 
Educators and Judges 2020 PRSC Males multiplied 

by 95% 
2020 PRSC Females multiplied 
by 94% 

General Employees and Members of the 
General Assembly 

2020 PRSC Males multiplied 
by 97% 

2020 PRSC Females multiplied 
by 107% 

Public Safety and Firefighters 2020 PRSC Males multiplied 
by 127% 

2020 PRSC Females multiplied 
by 107% 

 
Net Pension Liability 
 

The NPL is calculated separately for each system and represents that particular system’s TPL 
determined in accordance with GASB No. 67 less that System’s fiduciary net position. NPL totals, as 
of June 30, 2022, for SCRS are presented below: 

 

 
 
 

System 

 
 

Total Pension 
  Liability  

 
 

Plan Fiduciary 
  Net Position  

 
Employers’ 

Net 
Pension 

  Liability  

Plan Fiduciary 
Net Position as a 

Percentage of 
Total 

  Pension Liability  
SCRS $56,454,779,872 $32,212,626,932 $24,242,152,940 57.1% 

 

The TPL is calculated by the Systems' actuary, and each plan's fiduciary net position is reported in the 
Systems' financial statements. The NPL is disclosed in accordance with the requirements of GASB 
No. 67 in the Systems’ notes to the financial statements and required supplementary information. 
Liability calculations performed by the Systems’ actuary for the purpose of satisfying the requirements 
of GASB Nos. 67 and 68 are not applicable for other purposes, such as determining the plans’ funding 
requirements. The Council’s net pension liability at June 30, 2023 was $3,540,910. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

33 

 

 

 

The Council’s proportionate share of the net pension liability for SCRS is as follows for the years 
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022: 

 
System June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 Change 
SCRS 0.014606% 0.015357% (0.000751)% 

 
The Council’s change in proportionate share of the net pension liability and related deferred inflows 
and outflows of the resources will be amortized into pension expense over the respective average 
remaining service lives of the system. 

 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return 

 
The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments is based upon 20 year capital market 
assumptions. The long-term expected rate of returns represent assumptions developed using an 
arithmetic building block approach primarily based on consensus expectations and market based 
inputs. Expected returns are net of investment fees. 

 
The expected returns, along with the expected inflation rate, form the basis for the target asset 
allocation adopted at the beginning of the 2022 fiscal year. The long-term expected rate of return is 
produced by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target allocation percentage and 
adding expected inflation and is summarized in the table below. For actuarial purposes, the 7.00 percent 
assumed annual investment rate of return used in the calculation of the TPL includes a 4.75 percent 
real rate of return and a 2.25 percent inflation component. 

 
 
 

Asset Class 

 
 

Policy Target 

 
Expected 

Arithmetic Real 
Rate of Return 

Long Term 
Expected 

Portfolio Real 
Rate of Return 

Public Equity 46.0% 6.79% 3.12% 
Bonds 26.0 (0.35) (0.09) 
Private Equity1 9.0 8.75 0.79 
Private Debt1 7.0 6.00 0.42 
Real Assets: 12.0   

Real Estate1 9.0 4.12 0.37 
Infrastructure1 3.0 5.88 0.18 

Total Expected Return2   100.0%   4.79 
Inflation for Actuarial Purposes     2.25  
Total Expected Nominal Return     7.04%  

 
1RSIC staff and consultant will notify the Commission if the collective exposure to Private Equity, Private Debt and 
Private Real Assets exceeds 30 percent of total plan assets. 
2 Portable Alpha Strategies, which are not included in the Policy Target, will be capped at 12% of total assets; hedge funds 
(including all hedge funds used in portable alpha implementation) are capped at 15% of total assets. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

34 

 

 

 

Discount Rate 
 

The discount rate used to measure the TPL was 7.00 percent. The projection of cash flows used to 
determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from participating employers in SCRS will be 
made based on the actuarially determined rates based on provisions in the South Carolina Code of 
Laws. Based on those assumptions, the System’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available 
to make all the projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the TPL. 

 
Sensitivity Analysis 

 
The following table presents the Council’s proportional share of the collective NPL of the participating 
employers calculated using the discount rate of 7.00 percent, as well as what the Council’s proportional 
share of the employers' NPL would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1.00 percent 
lower (6.00 percent) or 1.00 percent higher (8.00 percent) than the current rate. 

 
Sensitivity of the Proportional Share of Net Pension Liability to Changes in the 
Discount Rate 

 
System 

1.00% Decrease 
(6.00%) 

Current Discount 
Rate (7.00%) 

1.00% Increase 
(8.00%) 

SCRS $ 4,539,884 $ 3,540,910 $ 2,710,394 
 
Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of Resources 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Council recognized pension expense of $239,758 which is 
included in the general administration function in the accompanying statement of activities. At June 
30, 2023, the Council reported deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to pensions from the 
following sources: 

 

Deferred 
Outflows of 

  Resources  

 
Deferred Inflows 

  of Resources  
Pension contributions subsequent to measurement 
date 

 
$ 

 
331,734 

 
$ 

 
- 

Differences in actual and expected retirement plan 
experience 

  
30,764 

  
(15,431) 

Net differences between projected and actual     
earnings on plan investments 5,460 - 

Change in actuarial assumptions 113,565 - 
Change in proportionate share of net pension 

liability and differences between actual 
contributions and the Council’s proportionate 
share of contributions 

 
 
 

  32,706  

 
 
 

  (138,968)  
   $ 514,229  $ (154,399) 

 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan 
 

35 

 

 

 

The Council reported $331,734 as deferred outflows of resources related to contributions subsequent 
to the measurement date that will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year 
ended June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows (inflows) of resources will be 
recognized in pension expense in future years. 

 
The following schedule reflects the amortization of the Council’s proportional share of the net balance 
of remaining deferred outflows (inflows) of resources at June 30, 2023. Average remaining services 
lives of all employees provided with pensions through the pension plans at June 30, 2022 was 3.767 
years for SCRS. 

 
Measurement Period 

Ending June 30, 
Fiscal Year 

Ending June 30, 
 

  SCRS  
2023 2024 $ 59,270 
2024 2025 (4,217) 
2025 2026 (119,302) 
2026 2027   92,345  

$ 28,096 
 

The Council’s contributions to SCRS and ORP for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2023, 2022 and 2021 
were $331,734, $288,025, and $269,509, respectively. 

 
Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 

PEBA is a state agency responsible for the administration and management of South Carolina’s 
employee insurance programs and other post-employment benefits trusts. By law, the SFAA, which 
consists of five elected officials, also reviews certain PEBA Board decisions in administering the State 
Health Plan and other post-employment benefits (“OPEB”). 

 
Plan Descriptions 

 
The Other Post-Employment Benefits Trust Fund (“OPEB Trust”), refers to the South Carolina Retiree 
Health Insurance Trust Fund (“SCRHITF”) established by the State of South Carolina as Act 195, 
which became effective in May 2008. The SCRHITF was created to fund and account for the employer 
costs of the State’s retiree health and dental plans. 

 
In accordance with Act 195, the OPEB Trusts are administered by the PEBA - Insurance Benefits 
Division (“IBD”), a part of PEBA. The State Treasurer is the custodian of the funds held in trust. The 
Board of Directors of PEBA has been designated as the Trustee. 

 
The OPEB Trust is a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit plan. Article 5 of the State Code 
of Laws defines the plan and authorizes the Trustee to at any time adjust the plan, including its benefits 
and contributions, as necessary to insure the fiscal stability of the plan. In accordance with the South 
Carolina Code of Laws and the annual Appropriations Act, the State provides post-employment health 
and dental benefits to retired State and school district employees and their covered dependents. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 

36 

 

 

 

Benefits 
 

The SCRHITF is a healthcare plan that covers retired employees of the State of South Carolina, 
including all agencies, and public school districts. The SCRHITF provides health and dental insurance 
benefits to eligible retirees. Generally, retirees are eligible for the health and dental benefits if they 
have established at least ten years of retirement service credit. For new hires beginning employment 
May 2, 2008 and after, retirees are eligible for benefits if they have established 25 years of service for 
100% employer funding and 15-24 years of service for 50% employer funding. 

 
Contributions and Funding Policies 

 
Section 1-11-710 of the South Carolina Code of Laws of 1976, as amended, requires these 
postemployment benefits to be funded through non-employer and employer contributions for active 
employees and retirees to the IBD. Non-employer contributions consist of an annual appropriation by 
the General Assembly and the statutorily required transfer from IBD reserves. 

 
The SCRHITF is funded through participating employers that are mandated by State statute to 
contribute at a rate assessed each year by the Department of Administration Executive Budget Office 
on active employee covered payroll. The covered payroll surcharge for the years ended June 30, 2023, 
2022, and 2021 was 6.25%. The Council paid $118,072, $108,705, and $108,254 applicable to the 
surcharge included with the employer contribution for retirement benefits for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The South Carolina Retirement System collects the 
monthly covered payroll surcharge for all participating employers and remits it directly to the 
SCRHITF. Other sources of funding for the SCRHITF also include the implicit subsidy, or age-related 
subsidy inherent in the healthcare premiums structure. The implicit subsidy represents a portion of the 
health care expenditures paid on behalf of the employer’s active employees. For purposes of GASB 
Statement No. 75, this expenditure on behalf of the active employee is reclassified as a retiree health 
care expenditure so that the employer’s contributions consist of an annual appropriation by the General 
Assembly and the statutorily required transfer of accumulated IBD reserves. However, due to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and the impact it has had on the IBD reserves, the General Assembly has 
indefinitely suspended the statutorily required transfer until further notice. The SCRHITF is also 
funded through investment income. 

 
For the SCRHITF, the allocation percentage of OPEB amounts is based on the covered payroll 
surcharge contribution for each employer. In accordance with part (b) of paragraph 69 of GASB 
Statement No. 75, participating employers should recognize revenue in an amount equal to the 
employer’s proportionate share of the change in the collective net OPEB liability arising from 
contributions to the OPEB plan during the measurement period from non-employer contributing 
entities for purposes other than the separate financing of specific liabilities to the OPEB plan. 
Therefore, employers should classify this revenue in the same manner as it classifies grants from other 
entities. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 

37 

 

 

 

For purposes of measuring the net OPEB liability, deferred outflows and inflows of resources related 
to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the OPEB Trusts, and 
additions to and deductions from the OPEB Trusts fiduciary net position have been determined on the 
same basis as they were reported by the OPEB Trusts. For this purpose, revenues are recognized when 
earned and expenses are recognized when incurred. Therefore, benefit and administrative expenses 
are recognized when due and payable. Investments are reported at fair value. 

 
The IBD issues audited financial statements and required supplementary information for the OPEB 
Trust Funds. This information is publicly available through PEBA’s website at peba.sc.gov or a copy 
may be obtained by submitting a request to PEBA – Insurance Benefits, 202 Arbor Lake Drive, 
Columbia, SC 29223. PEBA is considered a division of the primary government of the state of South 
Carolina and therefore, OPEB Trust fund financial information is also included in the annual 
comprehensive financial report of the state. 

 
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods 

 
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and 
assumptions about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include 
assumptions about future employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Actuarially determined 
amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past expectations and new 
estimates are made about the future. 

 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plans (as 
understood by the employer and plan participants) and include the types of benefits provided at the 
time of the valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and 
plan members to that point. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 

38 

 

 

 

The following provides a summary of the actuarial assumptions and methods used in the June 30, 2022 
valuations for SCRHITF: 

 
Actuarial Cost Method: Individual Entry – Age Normal 
Inflation: 2.25% 
Investment Rate of Return: 2.75%, net of OPEB Plan investment expense; including 

inflation 
Single Discount Rate: 3.69% as of June 30, 2022 
Demographic Assumptions: Based on the experience study performed for the South Carolina 

Retirement Systems for the 5-year period ending June 30, 2019 
Mortality: For healthy retirees, the gender-district South Carolina Retirees 

2020 Mortality Tables are used with multipliers based on plan 
experience; the rates are projected on a fully generational basis 
using 80% of the ultimate rates of Scale MP-2019 to account for 
future mortality improvements. 

Health Care Trend Rate: Initial trend starting at 6.00% and gradually decreasing to an 
ultimate trend rate of 4.00% over a period of 15 years 

Aging Factors: Based on plan specific experience 
Retiree Participation: 79% for retirees who are eligible for funded premiums 

59% participation for retirees who are eligible for Partial Funded 
Premiums 
20% participation for retirees who are eligible for Non-Funded 
Premiums 

Notes: The discount rate changed from 1.92% as of June 30, 2021 to 
3.69% as of June 30, 2022 

 
Roll Forward Disclosures 

 
The actuarial valuations were performed as of June 30, 2021. Update procedures were used to roll 
forward the total OPEB liabilities to June 30, 2022. 

 
Net OPEB Liability 

 
The Net OPEB Liability (“NOL”) is calculated separately for each OPEB Trust Fund and represents 
that particular Trust’s Total OPEB Liability (“TOL”) determined in accordance with GASB No. 74 
less that Trust’s fiduciary net position. The allocation of each employer’s proportionate share of the 
collective Net OPEB Liability and collective OPEB Expense was determined using the employer’s 
payroll-related contributions over the measurement period. This method is expected to be reflective of 
the employer’s long-term contribution effort as well as be transparent to individual employers and their 
external auditors. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 

39 

 

 

 

The following table represents the components of the net OPEB liability as of June 30, 2022: 
 

OPEB 
Trust 

 
Total OPEB 

 
Plan 
Fiduciary 

 
Net OPEB 

Plan Fiduciary Net 
Position as a Percentage 
of 

  Fund Liability    Net Position    Liability    Total OPEB Liability  
SCRHITF $16,835,502,593 $1,623,661,403 $ 15,211,841,190 9.64% 

 

The Council’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability for SCRHITF is as follows for the years 
ended June 30, 2023 and 2022: 

 
OPEB Trust Fund June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 Change 
SCRHITF 0.017695% 0.018573% (0.000878)% 

 
The TOL is calculated by the Trusts’ actuary, and each Trust’s fiduciary net position is reported in the 
Trust’s financial statements. The NOL is disclosed in accordance with the requirements of GASB No. 
74 in the Trusts’ notes to the financial statements and required supplementary information. Liability 
calculations performed by the Trusts’ actuary for the purpose of satisfying the requirements of GASB 
Nos. 74 and 75 and are not applicable for other purposes, such as determining the Trusts’ funding 
requirements. 

 
At June 30, 2023, the Council reported a liability of $2,691,735 for its proportionate share of the net 
OPEB liability. The net OPEB liability was measured as of June 30, 2022, and the total OPEB liability 
used to calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2021 
and rolled forward to June 30, 2022. The Council’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on 
a projection of the Council’s long-term share of contributions to the OPEB plan relative to the projected 
contributions of all participating entities, actuarially determined. At June 30, 2022, the Council’s 
proportion was 0.017695%. 

 
Single Discount Rate 

 
The Single Discount Rate of 3.69% was used to measure the total OPEB liability for the SCRHITF. 
The accounting policy for this plan is to set the Single Discount Rate equal to the prevailing municipal 
bond rate. Due to the plan’s investment and funding policies, the difference between a blended 
discount rate and the municipal bond rate would be less than several basis points (several hundredths 
of one percent). 

 
Long-term Expected Rate of Return 

 
The long-term expected rate of return represents assumptions developed using an arithmetic building 
block approach primarily based on consensus expectations and market based inputs. The expected 
returns, along with the expected inflation rate, form the basis for the target asset allocation adopted at 
the beginning of the 2018 fiscal year. The long-term expected rate of return is produced by weighting 
the expected future real rates of return by the target allocation percentage and adding expected inflation. 
This information is summarized in the following table: 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 

40 

 

 

 
 
 

Asset Class 

 
 

Target Asset 
Allocation 

 
Expected 

Arithmetic Real 
Rate of Return 

Long Term 
Expected 

Portfolio Real 
Rate of Return 

U.S. Domestic Fixed Income 80.00% 0.95% 0.76% 
Cash equivalents   20.00  0.35   0.07  
Total Expected Real Return   100.00%   0.83 
Expected Inflation     2.25  
Total Return     3.08%  

 
Investment Return Assumption 

   
  2.75%  

 

Sensitivity Analysis 
 

The following table presents the Council’s proportional share of the SCRHITF’s net OPEB liability 
calculated using a Single Discount Rate of 3.69%, as well as what the Council’s proportional share of 
the plan’s net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a Single Discount Rate that is one 
percent lower or one percent higher: 

 
 1.00% Decrease 

(2.69%) 
Current Discount Rate 

(3.69%) 
1.00% Increase 

(4.69%) 
SCRHITF Net OPEB Liability $ 3,182,359 $ 2,691,735 $ 2,297,452 

 
Regarding the sensitivity of the SCRHITF’s net OPEB liability to changes in the healthcare cost trend 
rates, the following table presents the Council’s proportional share of the plan’s net OPEB liability, 
calculated using the assumed trend rates as well as what the Council’s proportional share of the plan’s 
net OPEB liability would be if were calculated using a trend rate that is one percent lower or one 
percent higher: 

 
  

1.00% Decrease 
Current Healthcare 

Cost Trend Rate 
 

1.00% Increase 
SCRHITF Net OPEB Liability $ 2,213,689 $ 2,691,735 $ 3,249,880 

 
Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of Resources 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2023, the Council recognized OPEB expense of $143,151 which is included 
in in the general administration function in the accompanying statement of activities. At June 30, 2023, 
the Council reported deferred outflows (inflows) of resources related to OPEB from the following 
sources: 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions 
 

41 

 

 

 

SCRHITF  
Deferred 

Outflows of 
  Resources  

 
 

Deferred Inflows 
  of Resources  

OPEB contributions subsequent to measurement 
date 

 
$ 

 
118,072 

 
$ 

 
- 

Differences in actual and expected investment     
experience 

Net differences between projected and actual 
earnings on OPEB plan investments 

57,775 
 

21,165 

(236,679) 
 

- 
Change in actuarial assumptions 606,917 (865,247) 
Change in proportionate share   67,530    (197,260)  
   $ 871,459  $ (1,299,186) 

 

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date of $118,072 were reported as deferred outflows of 
resources related to OPEB and will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability in the year 
ended June 30, 2024. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to 
OPEB will be recognized in OPEB expense as follows. Average remaining services lives of all 
employees provided with OPEB through the June 30, 2022 measurement date were 6.9150 years for 
SCRHITF: 

 
Measurement Period 

Ending June 30, 
Fiscal Year Ending 

June 30, 
 

  SCRHITF  
2023 2024 $ (92,057) 
2024 2025 (63,745) 
2025 2026 (41,469) 
2026 2027 (48,816) 
2027 2028 (128,481) 

Thereafter    (171,231)  
    $ (545,799)  

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

Note 12. Interfund 
 

42 

 

 

 

Interfund Balances - The Council's General fund and Special Revenue Funds have advanced money 
between the funds to finance operations and supplement other fund sources. The repayment is made as 
soon as receivables are collected. The advance is between governmental funds and is, therefore, not 
reflected in the Statement of Net Position. The following summarizes interfund receivables and 
payables at June 30, 2023: 

 
Due to/due from   Receivables    Payable  

General fund $ 526,815 $ - 
Aging fund - 976,052 
Transportation fund - 331,194 
Workforce investment and Opportunity 

Act fund 
 

87,001 
 

- 
Environmental contracts fund 350,839 - 
Other non-major governmental funds   342,591    -  

Total   $ 1,307,246  $ 1,307,246 
 

 
Interfund Transfers - The following summarizes interfund transfers for the fiscal year ending 
June 30, 2023: 

 
   Transfer In      Transfer Out  
General fund $ - $ 165,798 
Aging fund 18,924 - 
Transportation fund 167,426 - 
Workforce investment and Opportunity 

Act fund 
 

  -  
 

  20,552  
Total   $ 186,350  $ 186,350 

 

 
The transfers between the General and Special Revenue Funds were made to meet grant matching 
requirements and or to absorb deficits, if any, in any grant programs. 

 
Note 13. Fund Balance Reservations and Designations 

 
The Council uses the following governmental fund balance accounts: 

 
Nonspendable for prepaid items – An account used to segregate a portion of fund balance to indicate 
prepaid items are “not in spendable form” even though it is a component of current assets. 

 
Nonspendable for security deposit – An account used to segregate a portion of fund balance to indicate 
security deposit is “not in spendable form” even though it is a component of current assets. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



43 

 

 

Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 
Note 13. Fund Balance Reservations and Designations (continued) 
 

Assigned for special purposes general fund – Amounts assigned were approved by the Board of 
Directors and are for the following purposes: 

 
Building maintenance $ 101,185 
Other purposes   132,811  

Total   $ 233,996  
 

 
Unassigned: 

 
This represents and includes all spendable amounts of the general fund not contained in the other 
classifications. 

 
Note 14. Risk Management 

 
The Council is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; thefts of, damage to, and destruction of 
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The Council pays an annual 
premium to a private insurer for its insurance coverage. 

 
There were no significant reductions in insurance coverage from the previous year and no settlements 
have exceeded insurance coverage for the past three years ended June 30, 2023, 2022, and 2021. 

 
Note 15. Unearned Revenue 
 

Unearned revenues (those where asset recognition criteria have been met, but for which revenue 
recognition criteria have not been met due to being in advance of meeting eligibility requirements) 
consist of the following: 

 
Unexpended 
Carryover 

  Amounts  
General Fund $ 13,687 
Transportation Special Revenue Fund 17,731 
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity  

Special Revenue Fund 19,069 
Environmental Contracts Special Revenue  

Fund 357,799 
Non-major Governmental Funds   525,859  
   $ 934,145  

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



44 

 

 

Central Midlands Council of Governments 
Notes to Financial Statements 

 

Note 16. Subsequent Events 
 

The Council has evaluated events and transactions occurring subsequent to the balance sheet date of 
June 30, 2023 for items that should potentially be recognized or disclosed in the financial statements. 
The evaluation was conducted through May 7, 2024, the date these financial statements were available 
for issuance, and there were no subsequent events that required recognition or disclosure in these 
financial statements. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



45 

 

 

 Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



46 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

48 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION BUDGETARY 
COMPARISON SCHEDULE - GENERAL FUND YEAR ENDED 

JUNE 30, 2023 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative
 

Original 
 

Final 
 

Actual 
REVENUES 

49 

 

 

 

Membership dues $ 700,353 $ 700,353 $ 626,977 $ (73,376) 
State aid 70,407 70,407 294,690 224,283 
Local revenue - - 3,655 3,655 
Interest income 75 75 775 700 
Other revenue   -    -    12,915    12,915  

Total revenues   770,835    770,835    939,012    168,177  
 
EXPENDITURES 

    

Direct personnel costs 1,540,907 1,540,907 1,401,609 139,298 
Indirect cost allocations (2,055,637) (2,055,637) (1,532,553) (523,084) 
Support services:     

Operations and maintenance 372,485 372,485 219,849 152,636 
Development and training 15,000 15,000 3,053 11,947 
Travel and transportation 44,599 44,599 37,353 7,246 
Consulting services 144,840 144,840 86,054 58,786 

Capital outlay 227,000 227,000 98,330 128,670 
Other program expenses - - 21,284 (21,284) 
Debt service:     

Principal retirements - - 44,142 (44,142) 
Interest   -    -    2,926    (2,926) 

Total expenditures   289,194    289,194    382,047    (92,853) 

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures   481,641    481,641    556,965    75,324  

Other financing sources (uses) 
    

Transfers out   (481,641)   (481,641)   (165,798)   315,843  
Total other financing sources (uses)   (481,641)   (481,641)   (165,798)   315,843  

Net change in fund balance - - 391,167   $ 391,167  
 
Fund balance, beginning of year 

 
  1,975,920  

 
  1,975,920  

 
  1,975,920  

 

Fund balance, end of year   $ 1,975,920  $ 1,975,920 $ 2,367,087 
 

 
 

See accompanying independent auditor's report. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - AGING SPECIAL REVENUE FUND YEAR 
ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative
 

Original 
 

Final 
 

Actual 
REVENUES 

50 

 

 

 

Federal revenue $ 3,963,365 $ 3,963,365 $ 3,716,235 $ (247,130) 
State revenue 1,475,468 1,475,468 1,714,202 238,734 
Local revenue   -    -    2,998    2,998  

Total revenues   5,438,833    5,438,833    5,433,435    (5,398) 
 
EXPENDITURES 

    

Direct personnel costs 735,518 735,518 650,264 85,254 
Indirect cost allocations 856,388 856,388 713,674 142,714 
Support services:     

Operations and maintenance 51,600 51,600 112,776 (61,176) 
Development and training 27,800 27,800 31,650 (3,850) 
Travel and transportation 32,377 32,377 33,012 (635) 
Consulting services 1,500 1,500 500 1,000 

Payments to contractors 3,673,468 3,673,468 3,189,892 483,576 
Capital outlay 17,000 17,000 - 17,000 
Other program expenses - - 711,454 (711,454) 
Debt service:     

Principal retirements - - 8,569 (8,569) 
Interest   -    -    568    (568) 

Total expenditures   5,395,651    5,395,651    5,452,359    (56,708) 

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures   43,182    43,182    (18,924)   (62,106) 

Other financing sources (uses) 
    

Transfers (out) in   (43,182)   (43,182)   18,924    62,106  
Total other financing sources (uses)   (43,182)   (43,182)   18,924    62,106  

Net change in fund balance - - -   $ -  
 
Fund balance, beginning of year 

 
  -  

 
  -  

 
  -  

 

 
Fund balance, end of 
year 

  $ - $ - $ - 

   

 
 

See accompanying independent auditor's report. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - TRANSPORTATION SPECIAL REVENUE FUND YEAR 
ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative
 

Original 
 

Final 
 

Actual 
REVENUES 

51 

 

 

 

Federal revenue $ 2,226,857 $ 2,226,857 $ 1,264,160 $ (962,697) 
Local revenue   -    -    5,399    5,399  

Total revenues   2,226,857    2,226,857    1,269,559    (957,298) 
 
EXPENDITURES 

    

Direct personnel costs 289,048 289,048 197,279 91,769 
Indirect cost allocations 349,533 349,533 242,311 107,222 
Support services:     

Operations and maintenance 83,000 83,000 31,098 51,902 
Development and training 6,000 6,000 1,485 4,515 
Travel and transportation 63,000 63,000 573 62,427 
Consulting services 1,100,000 1,100,000 964,239 135,761 

Capital outlay   15,000    15,000    -    15,000  
Total expenditures   1,905,581    1,905,581    1,436,985    468,596  

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures   321,276    321,276    (167,426)   (488,702) 

Other financing sources (uses) 
    

Transfers (out) in   (321,276)   (321,276)   167,426    488,702  
Total other financing sources (uses)   (321,276)   (321,276)   167,426    488,702  

Net change in fund balance - - -   $ -  
 
Fund balance, beginning of year 

 
  -  

 
  -  

 
  -  

 

 
Fund balance, end of year 

 
  $ -  

 
$ 

 
- 

 
$ 

 
- 

 
 

See accompanying independent auditor's report. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - WORKFORCE INNOVATION AND OPPORTUNITY ACT SPECIAL REVENUE FUND YEAR 
ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative
 

Original 
 

Final 
 

Actual 
REVENUES 

52 

 

 

 

Federal revenue $ 3,350,147 $ 3,350,147 $ 3,882,818 $ 532,671 
Local revenue - - 177,578 177,578 
Other revenue   -    -    89,491    89,491  

Total revenues   3,350,147    3,350,147    4,149,887    799,740  
 
EXPENDITURES 

    

Direct personnel costs 469,453 469,453 370,153 99,300 
Indirect cost allocations 513,292 513,292 327,104 186,188 
Support services:     

Operations and maintenance 455,369 455,369 319,608 135,761 
Development and training 16,750 16,750 65,122 (48,372) 
Travel and transportation 23,000 23,000 2,024 20,976 
Consulting services 55,000 55,000 50 54,950 

Payments to contractors 2,409,953 2,409,953 2,893,313 (483,360) 
Capital outlay 25,000 25,000 - 25,000 
Other program expenses - - 816 (816) 
Debt service:     

Principal retirements - - 141,749 (141,749) 
Interest   -    -    9,396    (9,396) 

Total expenditures   3,967,817    3,967,817    4,129,335    (161,518) 

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures   (617,670)   (617,670)   20,552    638,222  

Other financing sources (uses) 
    

Transfers in (out)   617,670    617,670    (20,552)   (638,222) 
Total other financing sources (uses)   617,670    617,670    (20,552)   (638,222) 

Net change in fund balance - - -   $ -  
 
Fund balance, beginning of year 

 
  -  

 
  -  

 
  -  

 

 

Fund balance, end of year  $ - $ - $ - 
   

 
 

See accompanying independent auditor's report. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULE - ENVIRONMENTAL CONTRACTS SPECIAL REVENUE FUND YEAR 
ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

Variance 
Positive 

(Negative
 

Original 
 

Final 
 

Actual 
REVENUES 

53 

 

 

 

Federal revenue $ 10,622 $ 10,622 $ 9,827 $ (795) 
Local revenue 16,511 16,511 11,889 (4,622) 
Other revenue   -    -    15,489    15,489  

Total revenues   27,133    27,133    37,205    10,072  
 
EXPENDITURES 

    

Direct personnel costs 9,792 9,792 6,593 3,199 
Indirect cost allocations 10,883 10,883 8,070 2,813 
Support services:     

Operations and maintenance 13,835 13,835 6,683 7,152 
Development and training 1,285 1,285 560 725 
Travel and transportation 318 318 171 147 
Consulting services   62,351    62,351    15,128    47,223  
Total expenditures   98,464    98,464    37,205    61,259  

Excess revenues over (under) expenditures   (71,331)   (71,331)   -    71,331  

Other financing sources (uses) 
    

Transfers in   71,331    71,331    -    (71,331) 
Total other financing sources (uses)   71,331    71,331    -    (71,331) 

Net change in fund balance - - -   $ -  
 
Fund balance, beginning of year 

 
  -  

 
  -  

 
  -  

 

 
Fund balance, end of 
year 

  $ - $ - $ - 

   

 
 

See accompanying independent auditor's report. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS NOTES TO 
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES YEAR ENDED JUNE 

30, 2023 
 

Note A - Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations 
 

During fiscal year 2023, a number of budgetary departments exceeded appropriated amounts as 
shown in the budgetary comparison statement for the General Fund, Aging Fund, and Workforce 
Innovation and Opportunity Act Fund. The Council was able to generate additional income to 
offset the current fiscal year’s excess expenditures. Additionally, the budget accounted for debt 
service as part of operations and maintenance expenditures. The following departments had 
expenditures in the General Fund, Aging Fund, and Workforce Innovation and Opportunity Act 
Fund that exceeded budgeted amounts as indicated in the Council’s Statement of Revenues, 
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances – Budget to Actual on pages 49-53. 

 
  Budget    Actual  

Actual (Over) 
  Budget  

General Fund:  
Other program expenses - 21,284 (21,284) 
Debt service – principal payments - 44,142 (44,142) 
Debt service – interest payments - 2,926 (2,926) 

Aging Special Revenue Fund:    

Operations and maintenance 51,600 112,776 (61,176) 
Development and training 27,800 31,650 (3,850) 
Travel and transportation 32,377 33,012 (635) 
Other program expenses - 711,454 (711,454) 
Debt service – principal payments - 8,569 (8,569) 
Debt service – interest payments - 568 (568) 

 
Workforce Innovation and Opportunity 

Special Revenue Fund: 

   

Development and training 16,750 65,122 (48,372) 
Payments to contractors 2,409,953 2,893,313 (483,360) 
Other program expenses - 816 (816) 
Debt service – principal payments - 141,749 (141,749) 
Debt service – interest payments - 9,396 (9,396) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

54 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Internal Control over 
Financial Reporting and on Compliance and Other Matters 
Based on an Audit of Financial Statements Performed in 
Accordance with 

Government Auditing Standards 
 
 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Midlands Council of 
Governments Columbia, South Carolina 
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental 
activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund 
information of the Central Midlands Council of Governments (the “Council”), as of and for the year 
ended June 30, 2023, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the 
Council’s basic financial statements and issued our report thereon dated May 7, 2024. 
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the Council’s internal 
control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial 
statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s 
internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the Council’s internal 
control. 
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or 
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a 
material misstatement of the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and 
corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in 
internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by 
those charged with governance. 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this 
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies and therefore, material weaknesses or significant deficiencies 
may exist that have not been not identified. We identified a certain deficiency in internal control, 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2023-001 that we 
consider to be a material weakness. 

 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



 

 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Council’s financial statements are free 
from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, 
regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The 
results of our tests disclosed an instance of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be 
reported under Government Auditing Standards and which is described in the accompanying schedule of 
findings and questioned costs as item 2023- 001. 

 
Council’s Response to Findings 

 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Council’s 
response to the findings identified in our audit and described in the accompanying schedule of findings 
and questioned costs. The Council’s response was not subjected to the other auditing procedures 
applied in the audit of the financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 

 
Purpose of this Report 
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Council’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in 
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Council’s internal control and 
compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 

Columbia, South Carolina 
May 7, 2024 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

56 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



57 
 

 

 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report on Compliance for Each Major Program and on Internal 
Control over Compliance Required by the Uniform Guidance 

 
 

To the Board of Directors 
Central Midlands Council of 
Governments Columbia, South Carolina 

 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
We have audited Central Midlands Council of Governments’ (the “Council”) compliance with the 
types of compliance requirements identified as subject to audit in the OMB Compliance Supplement 
that could have a direct and material effect on each of the Council’s major federal programs for the 
year ended June 30, 2023. The Council’s major federal programs are identified in the summary of 
auditor’s results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. 
In our opinion, the Council complied, in all material respects, with the compliance requirements 
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in 
the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government 
Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the audit 
requirements of Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and 
Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those 
standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the 
Audit of Compliance section of our report. 
We are required to be independent of the Council and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in 
accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on 
compliance for each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the 
Council’s compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the 
requirements of laws, statutes, regulations, rules, and provisions of contracts or grant agreements 
applicable to the Council’s federal programs. 

 
 
 
 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



59 

 

 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an 
opinion on the Council’s compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government Auditing Standards, and the 
Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is 
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would 
influence the judgment made by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the Council’s 
compliance with the requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 
In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, Government 
Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

• Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the Council’s compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. 

• Obtain an understanding of the Council’s internal control over compliance relevant to the 
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to 
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform 
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Council’s internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material 
weaknesses in internal control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
Other Matters 
The results of our auditing procedures disclosed an instance of noncompliance which is required to 
be reported in accordance with the Uniform Guidance and which is described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2023-002. Our opinion on each major federal 
program is not modified with respect to this matter. 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Council’s 
response to the noncompliance findings identified in our compliance audit described in the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Council’s response was not subjected 
to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, accordingly, we express no 
opinion on the response. 
Report on Internal Control over Compliance 
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify 
all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance and therefore, material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies may exist that were not identified. However, as discussed below, we did identify a 
certain deficiency in internal control over compliance that we consider to be a material weakness. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



60 

 

 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their 
assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over 
compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, 
such that there is a reasonable possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. 
We consider the deficiency in internal control over compliance described in the accompanying 
schedule of findings and questioned costs as item 2023- 002 to be a material weakness. 
A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet 
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
Government Auditing Standards requires the auditor to perform limited procedures on the Council’s 
response to the internal control over compliance findings identified in our compliance audit 
described in the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs. The Council’s response 
was not subjected to the other auditing procedures applied in the audit of compliance and, 
accordingly, we express no opinion on the response. 
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements 
of the Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 

Columbia, South Carolina 
May 7, 2024 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2023 

Federa
 

Pass 
 

Expenditure
 

See accompanying notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and accompanying independent auditor's 
 

60 

 

 

 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor 
Program Title 

CFDA 
Number 

Grantor 
Number 

to 
Subrecipients 

Federal 
Expenditures 

U.S. Department of Commerce    

 

Direct Programs     

EDA Planning 1/1/2022-12/31/2024 11.302 ED22ATL3020024 $ - $ 104,785 
EDA Planning 7/1/2020 -6/30/2022 11.307 ED20ATL3070106 - 226,462 

Total U.S. Department of Commerce   
 

- 331,247 
 
U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development 

  
 

 

Passed through S.C. Department of Commerce      

Regional Planning 14.228 4-RP-21-004 -  50,583 
CDBG Administration 14.228 4-CL-19-016 -  20,661 
CDBG Administration 14.228 4-CE-19-009 -  3,321 
CDBG Administration 14.228 4-NR-19-001 -  2,166 
CDBG Administration 14.228 4-CE-22-009 -  8,775 
CDBG Administration 14.228 N/A -  682 
CDBG Administration BLEC 14.228 N/A -  5,635 
CDBG Administration - Fairfield Co Comp Plan 14.228 N/A -  2,747 

Total U.S. Department of Housing & Urban Development   -  94,570 
 

US Department of Labor 
 

Passed through S.C. Department of Employment & Workforce (SCDEW) 
WIOA Cluster 
WIOA - Adult 

 
17.258 

 
21A005 22A005 F 

 
483,853 

  
1,185,428 

WIOA - Youth 17.259 21Y005 22Y005 493,714  1,087,851 
WIOA - Dislocated Worker 17.278 21DW005P 22DW005F 891,044  1,297,982 
WIOA - Adult Serve 17.259 22EBA05 99,905  185,805 
Continuous Improvement Grant 17.259 21LRA05 -  125,752 
Total WIOA Cluster Passed through SCDEW   1,968,516  3,882,818 

 
Total U.S. Department of Labor 

   
1,968,516 

  
3,882,818 

 
U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Transit Administration 

     

Direct Programs 
Federal Transit Cluster 
Section 5307 

 
 

20.507 

 
 

SC-2018-029-00 

 
 

- 

  
 

8,016 
Section 5307-2 20.507 SC-90-X292-00 -  20,053 
Section 5307 20.507 SC-90-X274-00 135,079  135,079 
Total Federal Transit Formula Grants Cluster   135,079  163,148 

 
Transit Services Programs Cluster 
Section 5310-1A 

 
 

20.513 

 
 

SC-2017-022-00 

 
 

- 

  
 

11,035 
Section 5310-1A 20.513 SC-2019-035-00 -  47,506 
Section 5310-1A 20.513 SC-2018-042-00 -  37,329 

Total Transit Service Cluster   -  95,870 
 

Passed through SC Department of Transportation 
Highway Planning & Construction Cluster 
FHWA Planning 

 
 
 

20.205 

 
 
 

* CMCOG P039965 

 
 
 

- 

  
 
 

554,800 
Rural Planning 20.205 * COATS P039940 -  21,892 
SCDOT Assembly 20.205 * N/A -  428,450 

Total Highway Planning & Construction Cluster Passed through SCDOT   -  1,005,142 
 

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 
   

  135,079  
  

  1,264,160  
 

U.S. Environmental Protection Agency 
 

Passed through S.C. Department of Health & Environmental Control (SCDHEC) 
Water Quality Management Planning 66.454 EQ-3-487 9,827 9,827 

  

Total Passed through SCDHEC 9,827 9,827 
  

 
Total U.S. Environmental Protection Agency   9,827  9,827  

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS SCHEDULE 
OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS (continued) 

YEAR ENDING JUNE 30, 2023 

Federa
 

Pass 
 

Expenditure
 

See accompanying notes to the schedule of expenditures of federal awards and accompanying independent auditor's 
 

61 

 

 

 

Federal Grantor/Pass-Through Grantor 
Program Title 

CFDA 
Number 

Grantor 
Number 

to 
Subrecipients 

Federal 
Expenditures 

 
US Department of Health & Human Services 

 
   

Passed through S.C. Department on Aging      

Aging Cluster      

Title IIIB, Grants for Supporting Services and Senior Citizens (Planning & Administration) 93.044 * L060A00010 -  256,351 
Title IIIE, National Family Caregiver Support (Planning & Administration) 93.052 * L060A00010 -  66,589 
Title IIIB, Grants for Supporting Services and Senior Citizens (Supportive Services) 93.044 * L060A00010 -  897,510 
Title IIIB, Grants for Supporting Services and Senior Citizens (Ombudsman) 93.044 * L060B00010 -  457,432 
Title IIIC, Nutrition Services 93.045 * L060A00010 1,276,583  1,276,583 
Title VII, Special Programs for the Aging (Ombudsman) 93.042 * L060B00010 -  75,592 
Total Aging Cluster   1,276,583  3,030,057 

 
State Health Insurance Assistance Program (I-CARE) 

 
93.324 

 
90ASPG0110-01-00 

 
- 

  
51,497 

Title IIIE, National Family Caregiver Support 93.052 L06A00010 -  418,198 
Title IIID, Preventative Health/Medication Management 93.043 L060B00010 63,775  63,775 
Title IIIC, Nutrition Services - ARP 93.045 None provided -  15,751 
State Health Insurance Assistance Program 93.324 90SAPG0043-00 -  114,313 
Title IIIC, Nutrition Services -COVID-19 93.045 50002000 11,219  11,219 
PRIME 93.634 None provided -  11,425 

Total Passed through S.C. Department on Aging   74,994  686,178 
 

Total U.S. Department of Health & Human Services   1,351,577  3,716,235  
 

U.S. Department of Homeland Security 
 

Direct Programs 
Hazard Mitigation Grant 97.039 FEMA-4394-DR-SC - 1,947 

  

Total U.S. Department of Commerce   -  1,947  
 

Total Expenditures of Federal 
Awards 

 
  $ 3,464,999 $ 

 
9,300,804 

  

 
* Audited as major program 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



62 

 

 

CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS NOTES TO 
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 
 

Note A – General 
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards (the “Schedule”) presents the 
activity of all federal award programs of the Central Midlands Council of Governments (the 
“Council”) for the year ended June 30, 2023. All federal awards received directly from federal 
agencies, as well as those passed through other government agencies, are included on the 
Schedule. 

 
Note B – Basis of Accounting 

The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards includes the federal grant 
activity of the Council under programs of the federal government for the year ended June 30, 
2023. The information in the Schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of 
Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost 
Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (“Uniform Guidance”). Therefore, some 
amounts presented in this schedule may differ from amounts presented in or used in the 
preparation of the financial statements. Because the Schedule presents only a selected portion of 
the operations of the Council, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, 
changes in net position, or cash flows of the Council. 

 
Note C – Relationship to Basic Financial Statements 

Federal award expenditures are reported in the Council’s basic financial statements as 
expenditures in the General Fund and Special Revenue Funds. Amounts reported in the 
accompanying Schedule agree with the amounts reported in the related federal financial reports 
except for timing differences related to expenditures made subsequent to the filing of the 
federal financial reports. Matching costs, i.e. the non-federal share of certain program costs, are 
not included in the accompanying schedule. 

 
Note D - Contingencies 

The Council receives funds under various federal grant programs, and such awards are to be 
expended in accordance with the provisions of the various grants. Compliance with the grants is 
subject to audit by various government agencies which may impose sanctions in the event of 
non-compliance. 

 
Note E – Major Programs and Clusters 

* Denotes major programs 
As defined in the Uniform Guidance, WIOA, Federal Transit, and Aging programs are 
considered to be clusters of programs and, accordingly, have been classified as one program 
for testing purposes. 

 
Note F – Indirect Cost 

 
The Council uses a restricted indirect cost rate between 29.25% and 30.39% depending on 
grant year that is used for its federal programs and did not use the 10% de Minimis indirect cost 
rate as allowed under the Uniform Guidance and covered in 2 CFR Part 200.414. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR 

THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

63 

 

 

 
 
 

Section I—Summary of Auditor’s Results Financial 

Statements: 

Type of report the auditor issued on whether the financial statements were prepared in 
accordance with GAAP: Unmodified. 

 
Internal control over financial reporting: 

• Material weaknesses identified? Yes 
 

• Significant deficiencies identified? None reported 
 

• Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? Yes 
 

Federal Awards: 
 

Internal control over major programs: 
• Material weaknesses identified? Yes 

 
• Significant deficiencies identified? None Reported 

 

• Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in 
accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? Yes 

 
Type of report the auditor issued on compliance with major federal programs: Unmodified. 

 
Identification of major programs 
Federal Assistance Listing Number Name of Federal Program 

93.44 Aging Cluster - Special Programs for the Aging, 
Title III, Part B, Grants for Supporting Services 
and Senior Citizens 

93.45 Aging Cluster - Special Programs for the 
Aging, Title III, Part C, Nutrition Services 

20.205 Highway Planning and Construction  

Dollar threshold used to be distinguished between Type A and Type B Programs: $750,000 

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?   No 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR 

THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

64 

 

 

Section II - Financial Statement Findings: 
 

Conditions Considered to be a Material Weakness 
 
2023-001 – Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliations 
 
Criteria: Internal controls should be in place to ensure that the amounts reported as balance sheet accounts 
balances, such as fund balance, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, capital assets, accounts payable and 
unearned revenue are appropriate and properly stated, in order to make financial reports generated by the 
accounting system as accurate as possible. Internal controls should be in place to ensure that the general 
ledger accounts for accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, capital assets, accounts payable and unearned 
revenue are reconciled to detailed reports on a monthly basis. 
 
Condition: Internal controls were not sufficient to detect misstatements in the reporting of some of the 
Council’s balance sheet accounts. 
 
Context/Cause: During the preliminary review of initial trial balance provided for the audit, we noted that 
certain balance sheet accounts appeared to be higher or lower than expected. Additionally, we noted that 
several beginning balances did not agree with prior year audited financial statements. We asked the 
management to review these accounts and to make necessary adjustments to correct these balances. 
Ultimately, cash was overstated by approximately $615,000, accounts receivable were overstated by 
approximately $1.1 million, deferred revenue was overstated by approximately $1.6 million, revenue was 
understated by approximately $278,000, and expenses were understated by approximately $271,000. Much 
of this amount was corrected by the Council over time as accounts were further reviewed; however, this 
resulted in significant delays in the audit process. 
 
Effects: Management was required to make adjusting journal entries to properly report balances of fund 
balance, unearned revenue, and capital assets for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend the Council carefully review its accounts reconciliation procedures to 
ensure all transactions are reported in the proper period in accordance with GAAP. These reconciliations 
will ensure meaningful and accurate financial statements. Additionally, we recommend that management 
post all audit adjustments at the end of the audit period, and beginning fund balances of the subsequent 
fiscal year should be agreed with audited financial statements. The financial statements can then be used to 
help in the management decision-making process. A benefit of monthly reconciliations is that errors do not 
accumulate but can be identified and attributed to a particular period, which makes it easier to perform 
future reconciliations. 
 
Section III - Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs: 
 

Item 2023-002: Report Submission to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (Other Matter Required to 
be Reported Under the Uniform Guidance) (Material Weakness) 
 
Condition: The Council did not prepare and submit its Data Collection Form and Reporting Package for the 
year ended June 30, 2023 to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse by the due date of March 31, 2024. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR 

THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

65 

 

 

 
 

Criteria: Per §200.512 of the Uniform Guidance, Report Submission, the audit shall be completed and the 
Data Collection Form and Reporting Package shall be electronically transmitted within the earlier of thirty 
(30) days after receipt of the auditor’s reports, or nine (9) months after the end of the audit period. If the 
due date falls on a Saturday, Sunday, or federal holiday, the Data Collection Form and Reporting Package 
are due the next business day. The Uniform Guidance does not permit the recipient to extend the due date. 
 
Cause: Management did not review subsidiary ledgers for accuracy and reconcile them to the general ledger 
on a timely basis. The Council also replaced their Finance Director and other finance staff in fiscal year 
2023, which also impacted the timely reconciliation of their accounting records. Accordingly, the Council’s 
general ledger for the year ended June 30, 2023 was not closed out in a timely manner. 
 
Effect: The Council’s Data Collection Form and Reporting Package for the year ended June 30, 2023 was not 
prepared and submitted to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse by the due date. 
 
Recommendation: We recommend that management implement monthly financial reporting and closeout 
processes so that the financial closeout process can be performed timely. 

Enclosure 12-  June 2024 



CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS FOR 

THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2023 

66 

 

 

 
 

Summary Schedule of Prior Audit Findings: 
 

Finding 2022-001 – Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliation 
 

Condition: Internal controls were not sufficient to detect misstatements in the reporting some of 
the Council’s balance sheet accounts. 

 
Current Status: We found that, due to staff turnover, sufficient corrective action was not taken on 
the above finding for fiscal year 2023. We have therefore repeated finding 2022-001 as finding 
2023-001 for fiscal year 2023. 

 
 

Finding 2022-002 – Report Submission to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (Other Matter 
Required to be Reported Under the Uniform Guidance) (Material Weakness) 

 
Condition: The Council did not prepare and submit its Data Collection Form and Reporting Package 
for the year ended June 30, 2022 to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse by the due date of March 31, 
2023. 

 
Current Status: We found that, due to staff turnover, sufficient corrective action was not taken on 
the above finding for fiscal year 2023, resulting in the Council submitting past the deadline. We 
have therefore repeated finding 2022-002 as finding 2023-002 for fiscal year 2023. 



1 | P a g e  
 

CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS 
 
 

MANAGEMENT’S CORRECTIVE ACTION PLAN 

JUNE 30, 2023 

 

Finding 2023-001 Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliation 
Name of Contact Person Responsible for the Corrective Action Plan: 

Melissa Labbe, Director of Finance 

Corrective Action Plan: The Finance Department has added additional staff and is 
providing additional multifaceted and in-depth training designed to address Finding 2023-
001, Balance Sheet Accounts Reconciliation. To ensure that all transactions are reported 
correctly, quarterly meetings will be scheduled to review reconciliations as well as the 
utilization of a shared workbook where all Balance Sheet Reconciliations will be recorded 
and tracked. Designated staff members will complete assigned reconciliations and log them 
on the shared workbook. The Director of Finance will monitor completion of all 
reconciliation through the shared workbook and review and sign off on reconciliations to 
ensure accuracy. 

Anticipated Completion Date: July 31, 2024 
 
 

Finding 2023-002 Report Submission to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (Other Matter 
Required to be Reported Under the Uniform Guidance) (Material Weakness) 

Name of Contact Person Responsible for the Corrective Action Plan: 

Melissa Labbe, Director of Finance 

Corrective Action Plan: Central Midlands Council of Governments has filled all open 
finance department positions as well as adding a new position in an effort to address 
staffing levels that have left us vulnerable to delays in meeting reporting and reconciliation 
requirements necessary for completing a timely audit. Additionally, the Council has 
undertaken to provide a multifaceted in-depth training for new Finance staff to further 
enhance our ability to meet deadlines in lead up to our single audit. Using the audit requests 
from the current year, a calendar of due dates has been developed and a goal set to finalize 
all audit documentation and reconciliations by no later than August 31, 2024, to facilitate a 
timely audit completion for the FY2024 audit. 

Anticipated Completion Date: August 31, 2024 
 
 
 
 
 
 

67 



2 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 13 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
Lexington Corridors Feasibility Study 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 13-  June 2024 



3 

3 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 13-  June 2024 



4 

4 | P a g e  
 

  

Enclosure 13-  June 2024 



5 

5 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 14 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
Large Urban Section 5310 Projects 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



6 

6 | P a g e  
 

 

 



7 

7 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



8 

8 | P a g e  
 

 

 



9 

9 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



10 

10 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



11 

11 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



12 

12 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



13 

13 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



14 

14 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



15 

15 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



16 

16 | P a g e  
 

 

 



17 

17 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



18 

18 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



19 

19 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



20 

20 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



21 

21 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



22 

22 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



23 

23 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



24 

24 | P a g e  
 

 

 



25 

25 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



26 

26 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



27 

27 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



28 

28 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



29 

29 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



30 

30 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



31 

31 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



32 

32 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



33 

33 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



34 

34 | P a g e  
 

 

 



35 

35 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



36 

36 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



37 

37 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



38 

38 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



39 

39 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



40 

40 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



41 

41 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



42 

42 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

Enclosure 14-  June 2024 



43 

43 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 15 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
Leesburg Rd @ Patterson Rd Intersection 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 15-  June 2024 



44 

44 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 



45 

45 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 15-  June 2024 



46 

46 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 15-  June 2024 



47 

47 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 16 
 

*2023-2033 TIP Amendment 
Old Two Notch Rd @ Shirway Rd Intersection 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 16-  June 2024 



48 

48 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 



49 

49 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 16-  June 2024 



50 

50 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 16-  June 2024 



51 

51 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 17 
 

2023-2033 TIP Amendments 
Signal System Improvement Projects 

(Urban & Rural) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 17-  June 2024 



52 

52 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 



53 

53 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 17-  June 2024 



54 

54 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 17-  June 2024 



55 

55 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 17-  June 2024 



56 

56 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

Enclosure 17-  June 2024 



57 

57 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 18 
 

FY 2024 & 2025  
Urban & Rural  

Work Program Updates 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 18-  June 2024 



58 

58 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 



59 

59 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 18-  June 2024 



60 

60 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 18-  June 2024 



61 

61 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 18-  June 2024 



62 

62 | P a g e  
 

 

 



63 

63 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 18-  June 2024 



64 

64 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 18-  June 2024 



65 

65 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 

Enclosure 18-  June 2024 



66 

66 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 19 
 

FY 2024 CMCOG Transit 
Asset Management Plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Enclosure 19-  June 2024 



67 

67 | P a g e  
 

 

 
 



68 

68 | P a g e  
 

 

Enclosure 19-  June 2024 



69 

69 | P a g e  
 

 

 

Enclosure 19-  June 2024 


	Attachment 1 – June 2024
	Opinions
	Basis for Opinions
	Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
	Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
	Required Supplementary Information
	Supplementary Information
	CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUND BALANCES TO THE  STATEMENT OF NET POSITION  AS OF JUNE 30, 2023
	Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
	Basis of Accounting
	Basis of Accounting (continued)
	Note 2. Cash and Investments
	Note 3. Capital Assets
	Note 4. Right To Use Leased Assets
	Note 5. Long-Term Liabilities
	Note 6. Short-Term Note Payable – Line-of-Credit
	Note 7. Leases
	Note 9. Contingencies
	Note 10. Employee Retirement Plan
	Plan Descriptions
	Actuarial Assumptions and Methods
	Net Pension Liability
	System
	Net Position
	Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of Resources
	Note 11. Post-Employment Benefits Other than Pensions
	Plan Descriptions
	Actuarial Assumptions and Methods
	Roll Forward Disclosures
	Net OPEB Liability
	Deferred Outflows (Inflows) of Resources
	SCRHITF
	Note 13. Fund Balance Reservations and Designations
	Note 13. Fund Balance Reservations and Designations (continued)
	Note 14. Risk Management
	Note 15. Unearned Revenue
	Unexpended Carryover
	Note 16. Subsequent Events
	Note A - Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations
	Section I—Summary of Auditor’s Results Financial Statements:
	Federal Awards:
	Identification of major programs
	CENTRAL MIDLANDS COUNCIL OF GOVERNMENTS
	Finding 2023-002 Report Submission to the Federal Audit Clearinghouse (Other Matter Required to be Reported Under the Uniform Guidance) (Material Weakness)


	Home: 


